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Iniroductory.

Within the time specified by the rules of this

court, plaintiff in error served and filed its original

brief. During counsel's preparation for the oral

atgument several glaring substantive errors in

orthography, composition and references to the

"Transcript of Record" were discovered, and there-

fore to save the court unnecessary labor and to pre-

sent clearly the position of the plaintiff in error



its request for permission to prepare and file a

revised and supplemental brief was granted.

The original brief need not be read as this re-

vised and supplemental brief, for the convenience

of all, will include all the matters contained in the

original brief as well as such additional points and

authorities as, in the judgment of counsel, sustain

the contention of plaintiff in error; and it will also

contain a discussion of the points urged in the brief

of the defendant in error. Therefore this brief

will contain in the following order

1. Statement of the case.

2. Assignment of Errors.

3. Argument.

4. Discussion of Position of Defendant in Error.

I.

Statement of the Case.

This is an action at law for damages for an al-

leged breach of contract. The defendant in error

had judgment in the lower court for $17,372.

The facts of the case may be summarized as fol-

lows:

Shortly after the San Francisco disaster of

April 18, 1906, the "Richelieu Realty Syndicate",

a California corporation, leased the premises in

the City and County of San Francisco known as



the southeast corner of Geary Street and Van Ness

Avenue for the j)urpose of erecting thereon an

eight-story cofiibincd office building and theatre (Tr.

p. 106). The American Pacific Construction Com-

pany (plaintiff in error) a California corporation,

was organized in the latter part of the year 1906 for

the general purpose of erecting buildings, but not

for the fahrication of, or the erection of, the steel

members of a building. The Modern Steel Struc-

tural Company (defendant in error) is and for

many years prior to the year 1906 was, and ever

since has been, a Wisconsin corporation, with its

plant at Waukesha, Wisconsin, organized for the

special purpose of manufacturing, fabricating and

erecting steel structures of all kinds (Tr. pp. 75-

76), S. B. Harding, president of the Modern Steel

Structural Company (defendant in error) was in

San Francisco when "The Richelieu Realty Syn-

dicate" was seeking bids for the structural steel

and iron work required for its proposed building.

He was then counselling the American Pacific Con-

struction Company to open a structural steel shop

at San Francisco and promised to aid it in estab-

lishing such shop by interesting himself in it and

sending men to operate the plant (Tr. p. 80; p. 92).

While thus advising mth it he suggested that the

American Pacific Construction Company, plaintiff

in error, bid for the steel work for the proposed

Richelieu Realty Syndicate Building and, if suc-

cessful, sublet the work to the defendant in error.



the Modern Steel Structural Compan}^ It was

argued that the bid of the plaintiff in error, a

local concern, would receive more favorable con-

sideration than that of the defendant in error. Mr.

Harding, president of the defendant in error, know-

ing that the plaintiff in error was unfamiliar with

the steel business supervised the entire affair and

offered to, and did, plan the contract which plain-

tiff' in error proposed to the Eichelieu Realty Syn-

dicate (Tr. p. 84; p. 85, bottom page 86 and p. 87;

p. 90; p. 91; p. 96). The proposition as planned

by Mr. S. B. Harding was submitted to "The

Richelieu Realty Syndicate" and accepted (Tr. p.

84). The first acceptance was verbally given on

or about the 22nd day of December, 1906 (Tr. p.

82). Pursuant to the understanding that the work

w^as to be sublet to it, the Modern Steel Structural

Company sent to the plaintiff in error early in

January, 1907, for its acceptance a proposal in the

following words:

''Proposal From Modern Steel Structural Co.

Waukesha, Wis., Jan. 4, 1907.

American Pacific Construction Co.,

San Francisco, Cal.

We propose to furnish you in good order

the following described stiuctural material,

constructed in a workmanlike manner, describ-

ed as follows and in accordance with the draw-

ings furnished by Jos. D. Smedherg and speci-

fcations also furnished hy J. D. Smedherg,
identified with marks: 'Copy #1' Initialed,

'S. B. H. 12-30-06', excepting as noted under

'remarks' on sheet #2 attached.



Namely, the structural steel and iron (except
the grillage beams, bolts, separators and col-

umn bases mentioned on page 3, of specifica-

tions referred to above) for the Richelieu
Realty Syndicate Theatre and Office Building,
known as the Columbia Theatre; Location

—

Southeast corner of Van Ness & Geary St.,

San Francisco, Cali.

Delivery: as follows: That portion indicated

l)y Mr. Smedherg, sJioivn tvithin red lines on
Vine prints 3-S, 4-S, 7-S, dated hy us on hack

of print as received Dec. 31, 1906, and 8-S
dated by us on hack of print as received Jan.

3, 1907, required to begin erection of steel

work on stores to be shipped from our shop
30 days from our receipt of approved work-
ing detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smedberg.
Balance of steel shipments to be 60 to 90

days from our receipt of balance of approved
working detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smed-
berg.

Remaeks: Our proposition is based on the

substitution in part (as referring to 'kind,

character and finish of materials' beginning

page 9 and 'inspection' beginning page 11 of

the above specifications) of Manufacturers'
Standard Specifications as found in Carnegie's

Hand Book.
Mill Test Reports, within said specifications

are proposed, as being satisfactory in the above
respects to Mr. Smedberg, and upon his request

stating upon which portions of the work he
will require such reports, we will comply there-

with by furnishing same.
We also agree that the tonnage is to be de-

termined and paid for by certificates from the

Western Weighing Association at the point of

shipment. It is understood that the Ameeican
Pacific Consteuction Company, at their own
expense, will w^eigh same at the Public Scales



in San Francisco, and sliould they prove that

the weights so certified by the Western Weigh-
ing Association at point of shipment are not
correct, we hereby agree to reimburse the
American Pacitig Construction Company,
the amount overpaid us.

Price to he Seventy-seven dollars ($77.00)
per ton; Freight allowed to San Francisco,
Cali. Correct figured weights of steel to govern
amount of sale and all steel work to be accepted
at our works by Mr. Smedberg, or his author-
ized agent.

Terms of pa}Tnent as follows: 30 days net

cash from date of invoices.

Payable in New York, Chicago or Milwaukee
Exchange, free of expense to us for the collec-

tion charges.

We are responsible for shop errors in work
not erected by ourselves and for alterations,

whether erected by ourselves or not, onlt when
notified of same in writing before correction is

made and given an opportunit}'' and reasonable

time to suggest remedy or to ourselves make'
alterations.

When delays are caused to our men by ma-
terial or labor not furnished by us, you agree

to pay their time, at our regular rates and
their expenses, while so delayed.

This contract in contingent upon our ability

to procure material from the mills, delays of

carriers and upon strikes, accidents or other

delays unavoidable or beyond our reasonable

control.

It is expressly agreed that there are no prom-
ises, agreements or understandings outside of

this contract and that no agent or salesman has

any authority to ol)ligate the Modern Steel
Structitral Co:mpany by any terms, stipula-

tions or conditions not herein expressed.

The title and right of possession to all ma-
terial we furnish remains AAdth the Modern



Steel Coinipany until the same has been fully

paid for in Cash.

This proposition is for immediate acceptance,

but although accepted does not constitute a
contract until approved by an executive officer

of the Modern Steel Structural Company, and
is subject to change or withdrawal until so

approved.
In case any differences of opinion shall arise

hetiveen the parties to this contract in relation

to the contract, the work to he or that has been

performed under it, such difference shall he

settled hy arhitration hy two competent per-

sons, one employed hy each party to the con-

tract and these two shall have the poiver to

nmne an uninterested umpire whose decision

shall he binding on all parties to the contract.

Ship via:

Modern Steel Stritctueal Co.,

Accepted Jany. 17th, 1907, by S. B. H.
Approved by S. B. Harding, Pres.

American Pacific Construction Co.,

Thomas Vigus, General Manager."

The pertinent portions of the "specifications" re-

ferred to are as follows (Tr. pp. 106, 107, 108, 109,

110, 111):

"San Francisco, December 21, 1906.

"In order to understand the business rela-

tions involved in the following specifications,

some explanation of them is necessary.

''Mr. Joseph D. Smedherg, the considting

engineer, is under contract with Mr. Frank T.

Shea^ architect, to furnish those parts of the

plans and specifications for the building which

relate to the iron and steel frame and rein-

forced concrete work.

''He is also under contract with the Richelieu

Realty Syndicate to supervise the inspection,
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to supei'iutend the erection of the steel frame
work, to check all bills rendered by the con-

tractors for this portion of the work, and, in

general to see that all the contracts relating to

this part of the building are faithfully ful-

filled. * * *

** General:

"The steel construction described in these

specifications is that for a new office huilding

and theatre. Southeast corner of Van Ness

Avenue and Geary Street, San Francisco, Cal.

The building is in plan 149' x 120' 0", and is

eight stories high above the sidewalk, with base-

ment extending 20' 3" below ground. (Datum).

"The plan of construction is as follows:

"The general plans for the theatre por-

tion OF the building being incomplete still,

the intention is to erect the office build-

ing portion first, and especially rush work
on the first section columns, first and sec-

ond story beams and sidewalk beams. Open
holes in columns, beams and girders for con-

necting theatre cantilevers, etc., iviU he

drilled in the field, as arrangement of theatre
framing cannot be determined accurately at
present, and this method will not delay any
portion of the office building construction, due

to lack of information regarding connection.

"The contract for grillage, beams and cast-

iron pedestals will l)e made separately in order

to have foundations ready for first delivery

of steel work, .and cause no delay in the erec-

tion of frame.
'

' SrECQTCATIONS EXPLAINED :

"These specifications are supplemental to

the contract already entered into for the con-

structionul iron and steel work of this huilding

hetween The American Pacific Construction

Company, parties of the first part, and Riche-



lieu Realty Syndicate, parties of the second
part. They are the specifications referred to

in the said contract, and which are to be con-

sidered a part of that contract.

"The specifications intended to cover all

the structural iron work for frame and rein-

forced concrete in said building. They are

intended to co-operate with the drawings for

the same, both those furnished by the architect,

and those furnished by the engineer, as herein-

after specified, and w^hat is called for by either

is as binding as if called for by both. They
are intended to describe and provide for a fin-

ished piece of work. * * *

"When necessary, or desirable, he [the con-

tractor] must apply to the architect, or the

engiiieer, for further details or specifications

during construction or before proceeding with
his work.*******
"Reference in Case of Dispute:

"Should any difference of opinion or dispute

arise in relation to the meaning of these speci-

fications, or of the said drawings, furnished by
either the architect or the engineer, as herein-

after specified, reference must be made to the

engineer Joseph D. Smedberg, whose decisions

on all such points shall be final and conclusive.

"Drawings:
"The general dimensions, arrangements and

sections required for the structural iron work
herein specified are sliown on the general struc-

tural iron drawings prepared and furnished

by the engineer. * * *

"Detail or shop drawings required by the

contractor, including drawings of every part

and piece of the work, with all the lists, sched-

ules, indexes, erection plans or other direc-

tions necessary for the proper manufacture,
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finish and erection of the work covered by
these specifications and the said general draw-
ings will be made and furnished by the

engineer. * * *

'

' Orders :

"All materials required to be furnished or

work to be done under these specifications or

by the said general structural iron drawings
will be ordered by the engineer from time to

time with the shop drawings, lists, schedules,

etc., for the same as fast as they can be pre-

pared, and tlte contractor for the structural

iron work must order no material and perform
no work under these specifications until he has

received the said detail drawings, lists and
schedules for the same. * * *"

In connection with the foregoing quotations, we

desire to call attention particularly to the fact

that neither proposal nor specifications described

the character or quantity of the structural material

the furnishing of Avhich was in contemplation. That

matter was left for determination hi/ means of

drau'ings thereafter to he prepared hy the engineer,

representing, not The American Pacific Cotistruction

Company, the plaintiff in error, hut the Richelieu

Fealty Syndicate. It further appears from said quo-

tations that the matter of definite provision for the

work of putting up the steel frame for this large,

eight-story building was in a very incomplete state,

subject to various contingencies, and big with possi-

bilities of the uncertainty and delay which after-

wards developed in the attempt to get a "starting

point" (Tr. pp. 224; 227) for the contemplated
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contract work. As shown by letters written by the

plaintiff and by the testimony of S. B. Harding,

hereinafter referred to, these difficulties were fully

aj^preciated at all times by the defendant in error

and its officers.

The acceptance of said proposal by the American

Pacific Construction Company on the 15th day of

January, 1907 (Tr. p. 102), constitutes the alleged

contract for the alleged hreach of which the jury

declared that the defendant in error was damaged

in the sum of seventeen thousand three hundred and

seventy-two dollars ($17,372).

The drawings referred to in the said proposal

were never completed. There were no drawings

whatever for the theatre portion of the proposed

building. None was ever made (Tr. pp. 108, 165,

255). Without completed drawings there was no

means, except by "guessing" by which the jury

or any one could ascertain the number of tons of

steel required for the proposed building, and there-

fore nothing upon which to base a judgment for

damages (Tr. pp. 248, 241, 235, 225).

On the first of March, 1907, defendant in error

shipped from Waukesha, Wisconsin, to plaintiff in

error thirty-nine and one quarter (391^4) tons of

fabricated steel of the value of $3021.09. This is

the only steel fabricated or shipped by defendant in

error under the said alleged contract, or at all (Tr.

p. 231).
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On April 8, 1907, for the first time it became ap-

parent to the plaintiff in error that the Richelieu

Eealty Syndicate was a financial wreck and unable

to carry out its contract and plaintiff in error im-

mediately telegraphed defendant in error to stop all

work, and later advised defendant in error that the

Richelieu Realty Syndicate was hopelessly insolv-

ent and had abandoned its contract with the Amer-

ican Pacific Construction Company (Tr. p. 20, p.

132, p. 133, p, 137). When it was apparent beyond

any question that the Richelieu Realty Syndicate

was unable to carry out, and had abandoned, the

contract, plaintiff in error, on the 13th day of April,

1907, telegraphed defendant in error (Modern Steel

Structural Company) to wire its outside figure for

the settlement of its clauns under the alleged con-

tract it had with the plaintiff in error. In doing

this the American Pacific Construction Company

was not only proceeding along the lines of fairness

but was true to the business friendship which it

thought had been established between it and the de-

fendant in error and out of which arose the alleged

contract in question (Tr. p. 135). No reply was re-

ceived to this wire and on the 15th day of April,

1907, the plaintiff in error wrote for this figure and

asked defendant in error in fixing its loss to remem-

ber that plaintiff in error would sustain a heavy

loss on its main contract in addition to any sum
paid to defendant in error (Tr. p. 137). In reply

defendant in error asked $30,230 in satisfaction

of alleged damages caused by the cancellation of
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the contract, only one thirty-seventh of which, ac-

cording to its own story, had been performed, and

on the full performance of which only $115,500 was

to be paid (Tr. p. 138, p. 46), In other words, it

claimed damages in the sum of $30,230 for the non-

fulfillment of a contract, which, if fulfilled required

the payment only of $115,500. Pursuant to requests

from plaintiff in error different itemized statements

of these damages were furnished but no two of

them agree.

By its letter of May 28, 1907, the items of the

alleged damages are specified as follows:

Material as per accompanying 4 sheets

—

weight—275,481 lbs. at $1.90 unloaded

in our yard $ 5234.14

Car of steel invoiced 3021.09

Expenses and money advanced J. D.

Smedberg 350.00

Shop Drawings 1441.53

Unused shop space lying idle 20,183.24

Total $30,230.00

(Tr. p. 149).

J. D. Smedberg was the representative of the

Richelieu Realty Syndicate and of its architect (Tr,

pp. 104, 127, 223). Yet money loaned to him was

charged against plaintiff in error as part of the cost

of doing the work under the alleged contract.

By its letter of the 1.5th of October, 1907, defend-

ant in error wrote that the above figures were made
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up "somewhat hurriedly" [request for them was

made April 22, 1907 (Tr, p. 140) and they were fur-

nished by letter dated May 28, 1907,—thirty-six days

later— (Tr. p. 149),] and, therefore the figures given

under date of May 28, 1907, were more or less ap-

proximate. But by October 15, 1907, it had ample

time to consider its damages and to detail the items

and thus detailed they made the total sum of

$30,931.23 (Tr. p. 211). This was its second ap-

praisement of its damage (Tr. p. 211). In this ap-

praisement it added to the actual cost of the raw

material and the cost of fabrication various per-

centages of such costs and this added sum is called

"overhead expenses" and is included as part of the

cost of performing the contract (Tr. pp. 211, 216,

especially 214).

In its first complaint its third appraisement fixes

its damages at $30,881.23 (Tr. p. 10) while by its

fourth appraisement contained in its amended com-

plaint the total damage is fixed at $35,164.17 (Tr.

Mr. S. B. Harding, president of the defendant in

error, makes the fifth appraisement of the alleged

damage and fixes it at $34,470 (Tr. p. 165). And

althouyli the '^overhead expenses" of the defendant

in error apportionahle to this eontract (Tr. p. 164)

a/mounting to $7171.23 monthly (Tr. p. 164) which

were included as part of the cost of the perform-

ance of the contract in the second appraisement,

are omitted by Mr. S. B. Harding in his appraise-
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ment the total damages pivot about the mystical

sum of $30,000.

F. W. Harding, vice-president of the defendant

in error, offei's the sixth appraisement of the dam-

age sustained by the defendant in error by breach

of the alleged contract and fixes it at $29,637.00

(Tr. bottom page 186). He did not include in his

estimate of the cost of performing the alleged con-

tract the share of the "overhead expenses" charge-

able to this contract (Tr. p. 187).

The president of the defendant in error (Tr.

p. 156) and its vice-president (Tr. p. 186) testified

to the amount of the alleged damage, and its sec-

retary gave his appraisement in writing (Tr. pp.

211-236). There was absolutely no agreement

among them on the cost of performing the contract,

or in any particular except in the amount of dam-

age. Each guessed an amount in the neighborhood

of $30,000 as the profit the defendant in error

would have made if the contract had been per-

formed, notwithstanding that on January 25, 1907,

the defendant in error did not consider the con-

tract profitable for, through its president, it wrote

to the plaintiff in error:

"If yoti desire to buy the job elsewhere and
vot give the $77.00, tve would he verif much
pleased to relieve fion, only asking yon to pay

us wha,t ive have already done" (Tr. p. 189) ;

and

again on the 31st day of January, 1907, its presi-

dent in effect said that there was no profit in the
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alleged contract with the plaintiff in error, writing

as follows

:

"We felt in the whole transaction that we
were more carrying out the ohligations made hy
G. W. Harding, of Los Angeles, than anything
else, as we ivere so filled up irith work and the
writer further said that we would he pleased if

we could sublet it to someone and get out even
and at the same time serve you, but if we could

not, we were going to stick bv and fill the

order" (Tr. p. 196).

In the beginning the defendant in error was con-

vinced that the alleged contract could not be per-

fomied by it except at a loss. This conviction pos-

sessed its president even after the contract was

signed and as late as January 31st, 1907 (Tr.

p. 196). But when the American Pacific Construc-

tion Company on the 7th day of April, 1907, noti-

fied defendant in error that the bankrupt condi-

tion of the Richelieu Realty Syndicate made the

performance of the contract impossible, then the

opinion of all its officials changed radically. The

American Pacific Construction Company's (plain-

tiff in error) "unfamiliarity" (Tr, pp. 86, 87) and

"inexperience" (Tr, p, 85) with steel work, its

confidence in the defendant in error, invited and

reposed pursuant to the injunction written by

defendant in error to plaintiff in error on the 21st

day of December, 1906, in the following language:

"You will have to put yourself in our hands
to do the right thing by you * * *" (Tr.

p. 91).
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the bankruptcy of tlie Richelieu Realty Syndicate,

its consequent inability to carry out its contract

with the plaintiff in error, and therefore the impos-

sibility of the latter performing its alleged contract

with the defendant in error presented to defendant

in error an opportunity for it to coin these misfor-

tunes into a profit of thirty thousand dollars.

Generally in cases of this character it is almost

impossible for the defendant to dispute the claim

of plaintiff that the cost of performance would

be less than the contract price. The claimant of

damages declares how much less than any other

person he can manufacture an article or carry

out contract. Fortunately for the plaintiff in error

the legal principles applicable to the case at bar

destroy the very foundation of the claim for dam-

ages by declaring the alleged contract void. But

if this were not so the many points raised by the

assigmnents of error demand the reversal of the

judgment.

The questions raised on this writ of error relate

to the following propositions:

1. The proposal of the defendant in error and

its alleged acceptance by the plaintiff in error did

not constitute a valid, or any, contract.

(a) It was incomplete because, although it con-

templated furnishing all the structural steel re-

quired for a building to be constructed in accord-

ance with drawings and specifications to be fur-

nished by Joseph D. Smedberg, such drawings were
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never made and the specifications were never com-

pleted and therefore there was no means of know-

ing or determining tlie character and quantity of

steel to be furnished.

(b) Neither drawings nor specifications were

ever attached to, nor made part of, said proposal

and neither the drawings nor the specifications

were ever completed. The partially completed

specifications referred to drawings for the de-

scription of character and quantity of material,

but such drawings were never completed. There-

fore, it was impossible for either party to know

the quantity of steel to be fabricated; the man-

ner in which it was to be fabricated, or the size,

form, weight, or appearance of the various steel

members entering into said building, or the cost

of fabricating the same. The said alleged contract

is uncertain and indefinite inasmuch as it does

not show, nor in any manner indicate the amount

of steel to be fabricated, or the size (long, short,

broad or narrow) weight (light or heavy), form,

appearance or style into which the various steel

members of the proposed building were to be fabri-

cated.

Therefore, the defendant in error never could

fabricate the steel required for the building—the

drawings and design for which were never fur-

nished; until they were finished even the architect

of the proposed building could not describe any

of its members, even though, in his mind he might
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have had formed some conception of its exterior

design. No architect, engineer or other person

could estimate the quantity without the drawings,

as wdthout them there could be no basis for such

estimate.

2. There w'as no proof of damage. Even if the

alleged proposal and acceptance had constituted a

valid contract, there is absolutely no evidence of

damage, except in the sum of $3021.09, the amount

spent in part performance of the contract, all other

damages being the result of pure speculation and

conjecture. The proposal was too indefinite to es-

tablish a sufficient predicate for fixing any damages.

3. There was a variance between the contract

alleged and the one sought to be proved, in the fol-

lowing particulars

:

(a) It was alleged that the contract was for an

agreed amount of steel, to wit: 1500 tons. The tes-

timony shows simply a proposal to furnish the

structural steel required for the Columbia Theatre

Building to be shown by the drawings and speci-

fications to be furnished by Joseph D. Smedberg

and no such drawings were ever prepared or fur-

nished.

(b) The contract alleged provided delivery of all

fabricated steel at San Francisco, on or before

September 1, 1907, at $77.00 per ton, f. o. b. San

Francisco; while the testimony only tended to

sustain an alleged contract for steel at $77.00 per
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ton, freight allowed to San Francisco and deliv-

eries to be made as follows:

"That portion indicated by Mr. Smedberg
shown within red lines on blue prints 3-S, 4-S,

7-S, dated by us on back of print as received

Dec. 31, 1906, and 8-S, dated by us on back of

print as received, Jan. 3, 1907, required to be-

gin the erection of steel work on stores to be

shipped from our shop 30 days from our re-

ceipt of ajjproved working detail drawings,

signed by Mr. Smedberg.

Balance of steel shipments to be 60 to 90

days from our receipt of balance of approved
working detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smed-
berg."

4. The action is premature. If the contract is

valid, then any difference concerning it or the work

done under it was by its terms to be settled by

arbitration. The defendant in error has never

arbitrated or offered to arbitrate the dispute in-

volved in this action. This clause w^as inserted by

the defendant in error and is a condition precedent

to its right of action.

Question one (1) above is raised on exceptions:

(a) To the ruling of the court admitting in evi-

dence the proposal of defendant in error, dated

January 4, 1907, and being plaintiff's Exhibit

"K" and plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3 (Tr. p. 99).

(b) To the ruling of the court in allowing wit-

ness, Samuel B. Harding's answer, over objectiom

by plaintiff" in error, the following question: "Does
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it indicate the acceptance of the contract" (Tr. p.

104).

(c) To the ruling of the court admitting in evi-

dence over the objections of plaintiff in error cer-

tain alleged incomplete specifications, made by

Frank T. Shea and Joseph D. Smedberg and

marked Exhibit "M" (Tr. p. 105).

(d) To the ruling of the court in admitting in

evidence over the objections of the plaintiff in error

certain 31 sheets of detail drawings (Tr. p. 125).

(e) To the ruling of the court allowing the wit-

ness Samuel B. Harding, over the objections of

plaintiff in error, to answer the question "Now,

Mr. Harding, I will ask you if at all times during

the months of March, April, May and June, 1907,

the plaintiff stood ready and willing to carry out

the contract with the defendant?" (Tr. p. 128).

(f) To the ruling of the court refusing to grant

the motion of counsel for plaintiff in error to strike

out the following answer of witness Samuel B.

Harding "And my reasons for that statement

would be this: The American Pacific Construction

Company, through Mr. Vigus, talked of 1400 tons;

the architect and his engineer talked of 14 or 1500

tons as I remember. Now the architect's plans—

I

am speaking now of the original plans from which

we made our detail drawings

—

were incomplete at

the time ive began work, and Mr. Smedberg came up

for the purpose of completing these drawings and
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insofar as we went in examining the original draw-

ings prepared by the architect we found a number

of places where they were not up to the ordinances,

and that was the occasion of our writing our letter

of March 26, marked Exhibit 'O' calling attention

to the discrepancies and I, therefore, from such in-

vestigations and discrepancies found, think that the

building would run up the 1500 ton mark, if not

more, and these increases spoken of are 20 per

cent or 25 per cent. Of course this would not apply

to all the structure" (Tr. pp. 130-131).

(g) To the ruling of the court in allowing wit-

ness Frederick Hoffman, over the objection of

counsel for defendant (plaintiff in error) to an-

swer the following question: "From your examina-

tion of the drawings and specifications of the build-

ing in your judgment, what quantity of structural

steel was required to carry out the plans and speci-

fications for the Columbia Theatre Building in

question?" (Tr. p. 177).

(h) To the ruling of the court denying the

motion for non-suit made by counsel for defendant

(plaintiff in error) (Tr. pp. 231-232).

(i) To the refusal of the court to instruct as a

matter of law that as the drawings which were a

material part of the contract were never completed

the contract was void and the verdict must be for

the defendant (Tr. p. 280).
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(j) To the refusal of the court to instruct the

jury that unless the plaintiff established by a pre-

ponderance of evidence the following elements, to

wit: the existence of a contract, containing plans

and specifications; the character of the work to be

done, the price, the quantity to be delivered and

time of delivery and that the cost to plaintiff in

carrying out such a contract was less than the con-

tract price, the verdict must be for the defendant

(Tr. p. 281).

(k) To the refusal of the court to instruct as

a matter of law, as follows:

The direct evidence of one witness who is entitled

to full credit is sufficient for proving any fact in

this case. The evidence upon which your verdict

should be based must be satisfactory evidence and

that evidence only is satisfactory which produces

moral certainty in an unprejudiced mind. You are

not to guess at whether or not there was a contract,

if any, nor guess at the amount of damages plaintiff

sustained, <ii any, nor should you enter into the

realm of speculation, for the burden of proving

such facts is upon the plaintiff. If you are unable

to find from the evidence that there was a contract,

or if you find there was a contract, but you are un-

able to find from the evidence the amount of dam-

ages plaintiff sustained, if any, your verdict must

be for the defendant. If the evidence upon any of

these questions is equally balanced your verdict

must also be for the defendant.
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If, after a careful consideration of all the evi-

dence you are not able to conclude from the facts

which are established that there was a contract or

if you conclude that there was a contract but that

the damages claimed are too speculative or remote,

your verdict should be for the defendant, because

in none of these instances has the XDlaintiff estab-

lished by a preponderance of evidence the facts

which are essential to a verdict in its favor (Tr. p.

287).

(1) To the refusal of the court to instruct as a

matter of law, as follows:

The law in this case, and indeed in every case,

is that a party coming into a court of justice must

satisfy the jury by what is called a preponderance

of evidence as to the justice of his claim; what we

mean by a preponderance of evidence is this: we

cannot get a pair of scales, and by some arbitrary

method put on one side the testimony of plaintiff

and on the other side the testimony of defendant

and say whicl^ outweighs the other, or whether it

is evenly balanced but you are to try to do thabmen-

tally as far as possible.

The law says that unless the plaintiff satisfies you

throughout the entire case of the correctness of his

story to such an extent that it outweighs the proof

of the defendant's he cannot recover. In other

words, if the testimony is evenly balanced, it shows

that there is some doubt in your mind ; that it is not

sufficient; that is, if the testimony of the plaintiff
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weighs just the same as that of the defendant, you

must find for the defendant, that is the law. The

plaintiff can only recover when his testimony out-

weighs that of the defendant (Tr. p. 288).

(m) To the instruction of the court to the effect

that there was under the evidence but one question

left for the jury to determine in reaching a verdict

and that is the amount of damages plaintiff suffered

through the breach of contract sued on (Tr. pp.

288-289).

(n) To the instruction of the court given as

follows

:

Counsel for the defendant in his argument con-

cedes that the plaintiff is entitled to some damages,

but the amount is in controversy. While the mak-

ing of the contract and its breach by the defendant

are both denied in the answer the evidence shows

without any conflict whatsoever, that the contract

was duly executed between the parties as alleged.

It is true that it does not appear that the specifica-

tions or detail drawings for all the steel to be fur-

nished under it had been completed by the archi-

tect, but it does appear without controversy that

those specifications were so far completed as that

both parties treated the contract as read}^ for exe-

cution to the extent the specifications and drawings

had been furnished and that plaintiff at the direc-

tion and request of defendant had entered upon its

execution so that, for all purposes affecting the

rights of the parties herein involved, the contract
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is to be regarded as having been duly executed, as

to the alleged breach of the contract by the de-

fendant, the action of the defendant as disclosed

1)}' the correspondence between the parties and

which is wholly uncontroverted, directing the stop-

ping of all work under the contract and stating that

the contemplated structure had been abandoned,

justified plaintiff in treating the contract as at an

end and constituted in law a breach of the con-

tract by defendant. You would not be justified,

therefore, under the evidence in finding against

either the execution of the contract by the parties

or its breach by the defendant as counted upon

(Tr. pp. 289-290).

Question 2 above is raised on exceptions

(a) Same as are specified as being raised by

question 1.

(b) To the ruling of the court sustaining the

objection of counsel for plaintiff (defendant in

error) to question asked Thomas Vigus, to wit:

"With whom did you haA'e that conversation?"

(Tr. p. 181).

(c) To the ruling of the court denying the

motion for nonsuit made by counsel for defendant

(plaintiff in error) (Tr. pp. 231-232).

(d) To the refusal of the court to instruct as

a matter of law, as follows:

In its third amended complaint on file plaintiff

alleges: that on the 19th day of January, 1907, a
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contract was made with the defendant whereby

j)laintiff agreed to deliver f. o. b. cars San Fran-

cisco, California, at $77 per ton the quantity of

structural steel and iron required b}^ plans and

specifications for the Columbia Theatre Building,

recited in said alleged contract, which quantity

plaintiff estimates at approximately 1500 tons, and

plaintiff says that by the terms of the contract

plaintiff agreed to deliver all such material to the

defendant before September first, 1907.

I instruct you that unless plaintiff has estab-

lished to your satisfaction by a preponderance of

evidence the existence of a contract containing all

those substantial terms, to wit : the plans and speci-

fications, the character of the work to be done,

the price, the quantity to be delivered and the

time of delivery, and in addition to that, estab-

lished by the same preponderance of evidence that

plaintiff's cost in carrying out the contract was

less than the contract price, your verdict must be

for the defendant (Tr. p. 281).

(e) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

It is the duty of the plaintiff to establish by a

preponderance of the evidence the complete cost

to plaintiff of the performance of this contract.

Unless it has done so, there is no evidence upon

which you may base any verdict as to the amount

of damage sustained by plaintiff (Tr. p. 282).
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(f) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

You are not to guess at the amount of such

costs nor to enter into the realm of speculation,

for the burden of proving such costs is upon plain-

tiff and if you are unable to find from the evidence

the cost of performing the alleged contract and

every item of plaintiff's expenses in such per-

formance, or if you are unable to conclude from

the facts which arc established to your satisfac-

tion by a preponderance of the evidence what would

have been the cost to plaintiff in the performance

of said alleged contract, then your verdict should

be for the defendant, because the plaintiff, in that

event has not established by a preponderance of

the evidence, the facts which are essential to a

verdict in its favor (Tr. p. 282).

(g) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

In a case of this kind, there are two distinct

items as the ground of damages: First. What has

already been expended towards performance, less

the value of the materials on hand purchased for

this particular work. Second. The profits that

plaintiff would have realized by the performance

of the whole contract.

The second item, profits, cannot always be re-

covered. They may be too remote and speculative

in their character and therefore incapable of that
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clear and direct proof which the law requires

(Tr. p. 283).

(h) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

If it is possible for you to satisfy yourself by a

preponderance of the evidence of the cost to plain-

tiff of the performance of this contract, then be-

fore you may render a verdict as to the amount

of damages it sustained, if any, you must determine

from a preponderance of the evidence what deduc-

tion should be made from the contract price for

the time saved by plaintiff in the performance of

the contract, its release, from care, trouble, risk

and responsibility attending a full execution of

the contract; unless you are able to determine from

the evidence what amount plaintiff saved in the

circumstances your verdict must be for the defend-

ant (Tr. p. 283).

(i) To the ruling of the court in refusing to in-

struct as a matter of law, as follows:

If there is omitted from the evidence elements

of expense which plaintiff would have incurred had

the contract been performed, or elements showing

the amount plaintiff saved by not devoting all

the time that would have been required in the

performance of the contract and released from the

risk of performance then your verdict should be

for the defendant (Tr. p. 284).
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(j) To the ruling of tlie court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

In determining plaintiff's costs in performing

said alleged contract allowance must be made for

every item of cost and expense attending a full

compliance with any performance of said alleged

contract, and in estimating any profits which plain-

tiff claims it would have made in performing said

contract you must, of course, exclude all such as

are merely speculative and conjectural (Tr. p. 284),

(k) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

If you find that a contract has been established

with all its essential terms, then when plaintiff

ceased to perform the contract, its expense ceased;

its plant became free to be used in other ventures

and was no longer emplojTcl in this, and if it is

impossible to ascertain from the evidence what

l)laintilf saved on the general cost of completing

the alleged contract by not being required to per-

form it, then the evidence is insufficient and too

speculative for you to base any just and legal

verdict thereon, as to the possible profits plaintiff

would have earned or damages it would have sus-

tained (Tr. pp. 284-285).

(1) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

If you should find by a preponderance of the

eviden(;e that there was a contract between the

plaintiff and the defendant it was nevertheless
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the duty of tlie plaintiff not to allow its plant to

remain idle, but to use every reasonable effort to

procure other work and if it did not procure other

work to take the place of the work mentioned in

said contract, during the time it would be employed

in the performance of this contract you should

deduct the amount of profits made by the plaintiff

on such other work from any sum you may find

it is entitled to under the facts of this case (Tr.

p. 285).

(m) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

The burden of proof in this case is ujDon the

plaintiff. It does not devolve upon the defendant

to show that the i)laintiff was not damaged by the

alleged breach of contract or if so damaged the

amount of those damages, but it devolves upon the

plaintiff in order to prevail to establish by a pre-

ponderance of the evidence that the alleged breach

of contract in fact damaged plaintiff and the

amount of such damages (Tr. pp. 285-286).

(n) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

If the evidence leaves you in doubt as to whether

or not plaintiff was damaged by the breach of con-

tract, or as to the amount of the damages, your

verdict must be for the defendant (Tr. p. 286).

(o) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

irlstruct as a matter of law, as follows:
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In no instance are you to conjecture or sur-

mise that plaintiff would have profited by the per-

formance of the contract. If no facts are dis-

closed to you by a preponderance of the evidence

which establish that the plaintiff would have

profited by the performance of the contract and

the amount of such profits, your verdict must be

for the defendant (Tr. p. 286).

(p) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

The direct evidence of one witness who is en-

titled to full credit is sufficient for proving any

fact in this case. The evidence upon which your

verdict should be based must be satisfactory evi-

dence and that evidence only is satisfactory which

produces moral certainty in an unprejudiced mind.

You are not to guess at whether or not there was

a contract, if any, nor guess at the amount of

damages plaintiff sustained, if any, nor should you

enter into the realm of speculation for the burden

of proving such facts is upon the plaintiff. If you

are unable to find from the evidence that there

was a contract, or if you find there was a contract,

.but you are unable to find from the evidence the

amount of damages plaintiff sustained, if any, your

verdict must be for the defendant. If the evi-

dence upon any of these questions is equally bal-

anced your verdict must also be for the defendant.

If, after a careful consideration of all the evi-

dence you are not able to conclude from the facts
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which are established that there was a contract, or

if you conclude that there was a contract, but that

the damages claimed are too speculative or remote,

your verdict should be for the defendant, because

in none of these instances has the plaintiff estab-

lished by a preponderance of evidence the facts

which are essential to a verdict in its favor (Tr.

p. 287).

(q) To the ruling of the court in refusing to

instruct as a matter of law, as follows:

The law in this case, and indeed in every case,

is that a party coming into a court of justice must

satisfy the jury by what is called a preponderance

of evidence as to the justice of his claim; what we

mean by a preponderance of evidence is this: We
cannot get a pair of scales, and by some arbitrary

method put on one side the testimony of plaintiff

and on the other side the testimony of defendant

and say which outweighs the other, or whether it

is evenly balanced, but you are to try to do that

mentally as far as possible.

The law says that unless the plaintiff satisfies

you throughout the entire case of the correctness

of his story to such an extent that it outweighs

the proof of the defendant's, he cannot recover.

In other words, if the testimony is evenly balanced

it shows that there is some doubt in your mind;

that it is not sufficient; that is, if the testimony

of the plaintiff weighs just the same as that of

the defendant you must find for the defendant; that

is the law. The plaintiff can only recover where
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liis testimony outweighs that of the defendant (Tr.

p. 288).

(r) To the instruction of the court given as

folh)ws

:

This is an action brought by the plaintiff to

recover from the defendant the damages alleged to

have been suffered by it through the breach by

defendant of a contract for the fabrication of struc-

tural steel. With the nature and terms of that

contract ,you have been familiar and I need not

recite them. There is, under the evidence, substan-

tially but one question left for your determination

in reaching a verdict and that is as to the amount

of damages, if any, plaintiff has suffered through

the breach of the contract sued on (Tr. pp. 288-

289).

(s) To the instruction of the court given as

follows

:

Counsel for the defendant in his argument con-

cedes that the plaintiff is entitled to some dam-

ages, but the amount is in controversy. While the

making of the contract and its breach by defend-

ant are both denied in the answer, the evidence

shows without any conflict whatsoever that the

contract was duly executed between the j^arties as

alleged. It is true that it does not appear that

the specifications or detail drawings for all the

steel to be furnished under it had been completed

by the architect, but it does appear without contro-

versy that those specifications were so far com-
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pleted as that both parties treated the contract as

ready for execution to the extent that the specifica-

tions and drawings had been furnished and that

plaintiff, at the direction and request of defendant,

had entered upon its execution so that for all

purposes affecting the rights of the parties herein

involved the contract is to be regarded as having

been duly executed. As to the alleged breach of

the contract by the defendant, the action of the de-

fendant, as disclosed by the correspondence be-

tween the parties and which is wholly uncontro-

verted directing the stopping of all work under

the contract and stating that the contemplated

structure had been abandoned, justified plaintiff in

treating the contract as at an end, and constituted

in law a breach of the contract by defendant. You

would not be justified, therefore, under the evidence

in finding against either the execution of the con-

tract by the parties or its breach by the defend-

ant as counted upon (Tr. pp. 289-290).

(t) To the instruction of the court given as fol-

lows:

The rule or measure of damages which may be

recovered for the breach of a contract such as this,

is the difference between the consideration stipu-

lated to be paid under the contract for its per-

formance and the cost of such performance. That

is to say under the contract in suit, the damages

plaintiff will be entitled to at your hands, is the

difference between the agreed price per ton for

the quantity of structural steel which you may
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find from the evidence would have been required

to complete the contemplated building in its en-

tirety as provided in the contract, less what you

may find it would have cost the plaintxff to have

completed the fabrication and delivery of such

entire quantity of steel; and, in other words, the

plaintifi' is entitled to the agreed price per ton

of the entire quantity of material covered by the

contract to be furnished by it, less what it would

have cost to deliver it free on board the cars in

San Francisco in a fabricated state, with interest

and so forth. That interest, I would suggest to

you, will be at the legal rate of seven per cent

under the law of this state (Tr. pp. 290-291).

(u) To the instruction of the court given as

follows

:

The question of the amount of damages plaintiff

has suffered being in coutroveisv, the burden is

upon the plaintiff to establish the amount of such

damages by satisfactory evidence; that is, by evi-

dence which produces moral certainty in your mind
as unprejudiced persons, and when there is any

conflict in the evidence it must preponderate in

favor of the plaintiff, that is the evidence should,

in your judgment, be to some extent stronger in

favor of plaintiff than that which is against it.

Preponderance of evidence does not mean the

greater number of witnesses, for you are not bound

to decide in accordance with the testimony of any
number of witnesses which does not produce con-

viction in your minds, as against a less nmnber,
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or other evidence satisfying your minds. The direct

evidence of one witness who was entitled to full

faith and credit is sufficient to prove any fact in a

case such as this (Tr. p. 291).

(v) To the instruction of the court as follows:

The evidence on behalf of plaintiff should be

such as to enable the jury to determine with rea-

sonable certainty first, that what the probable ex-

pense or cost would have been to the plaintiff to

have performed the contract in its entirety, this

to be determined from the different elements of

cost involved in the work as disclosed in the tes-

timony; and secondly, the probable gross quantity

of steel, in tons, it would have required to complete

the building; thereupon b,y taking the total cost

to plaintiff of fabricating and delivering the ma-

terial and deducting it from the gross sum pro-

duced by multipl3dng the number of tons of steel

you find it would have taken to complete the build-

ing by the price per ton fixed in the contract,

that is, $77.00, the difference or result will be the

profit which plaintiff would have made on the

contract and which would represent the damages

which, under the law, it would be entitled to re-

cover (Tr. pp. 291-292).

(w) To the instruction of the court as follows:

In figuring the cost to plaintiff of fabricating

the steel in question the fixed and regular monthly

salaries paid by plaintiff to its permanent officers

and heads of departments, without regard to this
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particular work, should not be taken into account

unless you find that such item of general expense

in plaintiff's business would have been increased

by reason of plaintiff having to carry out the entire

contract, but the jury should include in the items

of cost such amount as they find would be a

proper allowance for wear and tear on the ma-

chinery in plaintiff's plant had the entire work

contemplated by the contract been done at such

plant (Tr. p. 292).

(x) To the instruction of the court as follows:

The evidence should be such as to enable you

to determine the different elements which I have

referred to as entering into the question of dam-

ages with reasonable certainty; mathematical cer-

tainty is not required, but such degree of certainty

as will enable the jury to reach approximately

just results.

You will understand as stated, that reasonable

certainty in the respect mentioned is all that is

required. Plaintiff" is not called upon to prove

his case to a demonstration. The evidence is all

before you and it is for your consideration alone.

It is the duty of the court to state the law and

by that the jury are bound, but the facts are to

be found by the jury as to all questions about

which there is any conflict or controversy; and

with that function it is not the province of the

court to interfere.
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You must be certain, however, that your ver-

dict is based upon the evidence, and is not the

result of arbitrary desire on the one hand or of

surmise or speculation on the other (Tr. p. 293).

Question 3 above is raised on exceptions:

(a) To the ruling of the court admitting in

evidence plaintiff's Exhibit "Iv" and plaintiff's

Exhibit No. 3 (Tr. p. 99).

(b) To the ruling of the court denying the

motion for non-suit made by defendant (plaintiff

in error) (Tr. pp. 231-232).

Question 4 above is raised on exceptions:

(a) To the ruling of the court denying the

motion for non-suit made by counsel for defend-

ant (plaintiff in error) (Tr. pp. 231-232).

II.

Assignment of Errors.

Many errors are assigned in connection with the

four main questions presented above, and arise

principalh^ upon the admissibility of evidence and

upon the giving or the refusing of instructions. All

of these latter questions, however, are subsidiary

to the four questions enunciated and at most lend

color to the propositions therein involved. Inde-

pendent of their connection with the points made

in the admissibility of the evidence, or the instruc-

tions the four main questions can be discussed
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on the record. The other errors will be discussed

only in connection with or incidental to the main

questions. A consideration of such errors may

give a clearer understanding to the contentions of

plaintiff in error.

They are therefore all included in the following

assignment of errors upon which the plaintiff in

error will rely herein, and which it intends to urge

in the prosecution of this writ of error.

Assignment No. 11.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"I instruct you that inasmuch as it appears

from the evidence that the drawings were a
material part of the contract and were never
completed, that the contract is void and there-

fore your verdict must be for the defendant."

the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on pages 280 to 281 and said refusal consti-

tuting Exception No. 11.

Assignment No. 12.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instructiou requested by the defendant:

"lu its third amended complaint on file

plaintiff alleges that on the 19th day of Jan-
uary, 1907, a contract was made with the de-

fendant whereb}^ plaintiff agreed to deliver to

defendant F. O. B. cars San Francisco, Cali-

fornia, at $77 per ton the quantity of structural

steel and iron required by plans and specifica-

tions for the Columbia Theatre Building re-

cited in said alleged contract, which quantity
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plaintiff estimates at approximate!}^ 1500 tons

and plaintiff says that by the terms of the

contract plaintiff agreed to deliver all such

material to the defendant before September
first, 1907."

"I instruct you that unless plaintiff has es-

tablished to your satisfaction by a prepon-

derance of evidence, the existence of a contract

containing all those substantial terms, to wit:

the plans and specifications, the character of

the work to be done, the price, the quantity to

be delivered and the time of delivery, and in

addition to that, established by the same pre-

ponderance of evidence that plaintiff's cost in

carrying out the contract was less than the

contract price, 3^our verdict must be for the

defendant. '

'

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 281 and said refusal constituting Excep-

tion No. 12.

Assignment No. 13.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"It is the duty of the plaintiff to establish

by a preponderance of the evidence the com-

plete cost to plaintiff of the performance of

this contract. Unless it has done so there is

no evidence upon which you may base any ver-

dict as to the amount of damages sustained by
plaintiff.

'

'

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 282 and said refusal constituting Excep-

tion No. 13.
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Assignment No. 14.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"You are not to guess at the amount of such
-costs, nor to enter the realm of speculation,

for the burden of proving such costs is upon
plaintiff, and if you are unable to find from
the evidence the cost of performing the alleged

contract and every item of plaintiff's expenses
in such performance, or if j^ou are unable to

conclude from the facts which are established

to your satisfaction by a preponderance of the
evidence what would have been the cost to

plaintiff in the performance of said alleged

contract, then your verdict should be for the
defendant because the plaintiff in that event
has not established by a preponderance of the
evidence the facts which are essential to a
verdict in its favor."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 282 and said refusal constituting Excep-

tion No. 14.

Assignment No. 15.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"In a case of this kind there are two distinct

items as the ground of damages. First: What
has already been expended towards perform-
ance, less the value of the materials on hand,
purchased for this particular work. Second:
The profits that plaintiff' would have realized

b}^ the performance of the whole contract.

"The second item, profits, cannot always be
recovered. They may be too remote and specu-
lative in their character and therefore in-
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capable of that clear and direct proof whicli the

law requires."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 283 and said refusal constituting Exception

No. 15.

Assignment No. 16. '

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"If it is possible for you to satisfy yourself

by a preponderance of the evidence of the
cost to plaintiff of the performance of this

contract then before you may render a verdict
as to the amount of damages it sustained, if

any, you must determine from a preponderance
of evidence what deduction should be made
from the contract price for the time saved by
plaintiff in the performance of the contract,

its release from care, trouble, risk and respon-
sibility attending a full execution of the con-
tract; unless you are able to determine from
the evidence what amount plaintiff saved in

these circumstances your verdict must be for

the defendant."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 283 and said refusal constituting Exception

No. 16.

Assignment No. 17.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"If there is omitted from the evidence, ele-

ments of expense which the plaintiff would
have incurred had the contract been performed,
or elements showing the amount plaintiff saved
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by not devoting all the time that would have
been required in the performance of the con-

tract and release from the risk of performance,
then your verdict should be for the defendant."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 284 and said refusal constituting Excej)tion

No. 17.

Assignment No. 18.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"In determining plaintiff's cost in perform-
ing said alleged contract allowance must be
made for every item of cost and expense at-

tending a full compliance with, any perform-
ance of, said alleged contract, and in estimating

any profits which plaintiff claims it would have
made in performing said contract yovi must,
of course, exclude all such as are merely specu-

lative and conjectural."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 284, and said refusal constituting Exception

No. 18.

Assignment No. 19.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"If you find that a contract has been estab-

lished with all its essential terms, then when
plaintiff' ceased to perform the contract its ex-

pense ceased ; its plant became free to be used
in other ventures and was no longer employed
in this, and if it is im])ossible to ascertain fi'om

the evidence what plaintiff saved on the gen-

eral cost of completing the alleged contract by
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not being required to perform it, then the evi-

dence is insufficient and too speculative for

you to base any just and legal verdict thereon,

as to the possible profits plaintiff would have
earned or damages it would have sustained."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

at pages 284-5 and said refusal constituting Excep-

tion No. 19.

Assignment No. 20.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"If you should find by a preponderance of

the evidence that there was a contract between
the plaintiff and the defendant it was never-

theless the duty of the plaintiff not to allow

its plant to remain idle, but to use every rea-

sonable effort to procure other work, and if it

did not procure other work to take the place

of the work mentioned in said contract dur-
ing the time it would be emplo3^ed in the per-

formance of this contract, you should deduct
the amount of profits made by the plaintiff on
such other work from any sum you may find

it is entitled to under the facts of this case."

the same being contained in the transcript of record

on page 285 and said refusal constituting Exception

No. 20.

Assignment No. 21.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"The burden of proof in this case is upon
the plaintiff. It does not devolve upon the
defendant to show that the plaintiff was not
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damaged by the alleged breach of contract, or

if so damaged the amount of those damages.
But it devolves upon the plaintiff in order to

prevail to establish by a preponderance of the

evidence that the alleged breach of contract

in fact damaged i^laintiff and the amount of

such damages."

the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on pages 285-6 and said refusal constituting Ex-

ception No. 21.

Assignment No. 22.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant

:

"If the evidence leaves you in doubt as to

whether or not plaintiff was damaged by the

breach of contract, or as to the amount of the

damages, your verdict must be for the defend-
ant."

the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on page 286 and said refusal constituting Ex-

ception No. 22.

ASSIGN^NIEXT No. 23.

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"In no instance are you to conjecture or sur-
mise that plaintiff would have profited by the
performance of the contract. If no facts are
disclosed to you by a preponderance of the
evidence which establish that the plaiutiif would
have profited by the performance of the con-
tract and the amount of such profits your ver-
dict must be for the defendant. '

'
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the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on page 286 and said refusal constituting

Exception No. 23.

Assignment No. 24.

The court erred in refusing to give tlie following

instruction requested by the defendant:

"The direct evidence of one witness who is

entitled to full credit is sufficient for proving
any fact in this case. The evidence upon which
your verdict should be based must be satisfac-

tory evidence and that evidence only is satis-

factory which produces moral certainty in an
unprejudiced mind. You are not to guess at

whether or not there was a contract, if any,

nor guess at the amount of damages plaintiff

sustained, if any, nor should you enter into

the realm of speculation for the burden of

proving such facts is upon the plaintiff. If

you are unable to find from the evidence that

there was a contract, or if you find there was
a contract, but you are unable to find from
the evidence the amount of damages plaintiff

sustained, if any, your verdict must be for

the defendant. If the evidence upon any of

these questions is equally balanced your ver-

dict must also be for the defendant.

If, after a careful consideration of all the

evidence you are not able to conclude from
the facts which are established that there was
a contract, or if you conclude that there was
a contract but that the damages claimed are

too speculative or remote your verdict should

be for the defendant because in none of these

instances has the plaintiff established by a

preponderance of evidence the facts which are

essential to a verdict in its favor."
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the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on p. 287 and said refusal constituting Excep-

tion No. 24.

AssiGNMEXT No. 25,

The court erred in refusing to give the following

instruction requested by the defendant

:

"The law in this case, and indeed in every

case, is that a ])arty coming into a court of

justice must satisfy the jury by what is called

a preponderance of evidence as to the justice

of his claim; what we mean by a preponder-

ance of evidence is this: We cannot get a

pair of scales and by some arbitrary method
put on one side the testimony of plaintiff and
on the other side the testimony of defendant

and sa}' which outweighs the other, or whether
it is evenly balanced, but 3^ou are to try to do

that mentally as far as possible.

The law says that imless the plaintiff satis-

fies you throughout the entire case of the cor-

rectness of his story to such an extent that it

outweighs the proof of the defendant's, he

cannot recover. In other words, if the testi-

mony is evenly balanced it shows that there

is some doubt in your mind; that it is not

sufficient ; that is, if the testimony of the plain-

tiff weighs just the same as that of the de-

fendant, 3'ou must find for the defendant, that

is the law. The plaintiff can only recover

where his testimony outweighs that of the de-

fendant."

the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on ])age 288 and said refusal constituting Ex-

ception No. 25.
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Assignment Nos. 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33.

The court erred in giving the following instruc-

tion ;

"The Court. Ordinarily I would not sub-

mit the case to you at this hour, but we are

rather short of jurors on the panel and I may
need your services in another case in the

morning. It strikes me that this case is a

very simple one, not only in its facts, but in

regard to the law, and I have an idea that

you will be able to reach a verdict without
difficult}^ and without remaining out over night,

or any considerable period into the night. My
hesitation about submitting a case to a jury

late in the day is that possibh^ they might
get tied up and have to stay out all night. I

know that is very unpleasant, but I do not

apprehend any such results will follow in this

case, so I will submit the case to you now.

Give me your attention."

"This is an action brought by the plaintiff

to recover from the defendant the damages
alleged to have been suffered by it through the

breach by defendant of a contract for the fab-

rication and delivery of structural steel. With
the nature and terms of that contract you have
been made familiar and I need not recite them.

There is, under the evidence, substantially but
one question left for your determination in

reaching a verdict, and that is as to the amount
of damages, if any, plaintiff has suffered

through the breach of the contract sued on.

Counsel for the defendant in his argument
concedes that the plaintiff is entitled to some
damages, but the amount is in controversy.

While the making of the contract and its

breach by the defendant are both denied in

the answer the evidence shows without any
conflict whatsoever that the contract was duly
executed between the parties as alleged. It is
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true that it does not appear that the speeifica-

tions or detail drawings for all the steel to be
furnished under it have been com]3leted by the
arehite(^t, liut it does appear \Yithout contro-
versy that those specifications were so far com-
pleted as that both parties treated the contract

as read}'^ for execution to the extent the speci-

fications and drawings had been furnished, and
that plaintiff at the direction and request of

defendant had entered upon its execution so

that for all purposes affecting the rights of

the parties here involved the contract is to be
regarded as having been duly executed. As to

the alleged breach of the contract by the de-

fendant the action of the defendant as dis-

closed by the correspondence between the par-

ties and which is wholly uncontroverted, direct-

ing the stopping of all work under the con-

tract and stating that the contemplated struc-

ture had been abandoned, justified plaintiff in

treating the contract as at an end, and consti-

tuting in law a breach of the contract by de-

fendant. You would not be justified, there-

fore, under the evidence in finding against

either the execution of the contract by the

parties or its breach hj the defendant as

counted upon.

This leaves, as I have said, but one substan-

tive question for your consideration, and that

is the question of damages.

The rule or measure of damages which may
be recovered for the breach of a contract such
as this is the difference between the consider-

ation stipulated to be paid under the contract

for its perfomiance and the cost of such per-

formance. That is to sav, under the conti'act

in suit, the damages plaintiff will ])e entitled

to at your hands is the difference between
the agreed price per ton for the quantity of

structural steel which you may find from the

evidence would have been required to complete
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the contemplated building in its entirety as

provided in the contract, less what you may
find it would have cost the plaintiff to have
completed the fabrication and delivery of such
entire quantity of steel; in other words, the

plaintiff is entitled to the agreed price per
ton of the entire quantity of material covered
by the contract to be furnished by it, less

what it would have cost to deliver it free on
board the cars in San Francisco in a fabri-

cate state, with interest and so forth. That
interest I would suggest to you will be at the

legal rate of seven per cent under the law of

this state.

The question of the aipount of damages plain-

tiff has suft'ered being in controversy, the bur-

den is upon the plaintiff to establish the amount
of such damages by satisfactory evidence, that

is by evidence which produces moral certainty

in your mind as unprejudiced persons, and
when there is any conflict in the evidence it

must preponderate in favor of the plaintiff,

that is, the evidence should, in your judgment,
be to some extent stronger in favor of plain-

tiff than that which is against it. Prepon-
derance of evidence does not mean the greater
mmiber of witnesses, for you are not bound
to decide in accordance with the testimony of
any number of witnesses which does not pro-
duce conviction in your minds as against a less

number or other evidence satisfying your mind.
The direct evidence of one witness who is en-
titled to full faith and credit is sufficient to
prove any fact in a case such as this.

The evidence on behalf of nlaintiff should
be such as to enable the jury to determine with
reasonable certainty, first, what the probable
expense or cost would have been to the plain-
tiff to have performed the contract in its en-
tirety, this to be determined from the different
elements of cost involved in the work as dis-
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closed in the testimony; and, secondly, the

probable gross ciuantity of steel in tons it

would have required to complete the building.

Thereupon, by taking- the total cost to plain-

tiff of fabricating and delivering the material

and deducting it from the gross sum produced
by multiplying the number of tons of steel you
find it would have taken to complete the build-

ing by the ])rice per ton fixed in the contract,

that is, $77, the difference or result will be the

profit which plaintiff' would have made on the

contract and which would re]iresent the dam-
ages, which, under the law, it would be entitled

to recover.

In figuring the cost to plaintiff of fabricat-

ing the steel in question, the fixed and regular
monthly salaries paid by plaintiff to its per-

manent officers and heads of departments with-

out regard to this particular work, should not
be taken into account unless you find that such
items of general expense in plaintiff's business

would have been increased by reason of plain-

tiff' having to carry out the entire contract ; but
the jury should include in the item of cost such
amount as they find would be a proper allow-

ance for wear and tear on the machinery in

plaintiff's plant had the entire work contem-
plated by the contract been done at such plant.

The evidence should be such as to enable

you to determine the diff'erent elements wdiich

I have referred to as entering into the ques-

tion of damages with reasonable certainty;

mathematical certainty is not required, but
such degree of certainty as wdll enable the jury
to reach approximately just results.

You wall understand, as stated, that reason-
able certainty in the respect mentioned, is all

that is required; plaintiff is not called upon
to y)rove his case to a demonstration ; the evi-

dence is all before you and it is for your con-

sideration alone. It is the dutv of the court to
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state tlie law and by that the jury are lioiind,

but the facts are to be found by the jury as

to all questions about which there is any conflict

or controversy; and with that function it is

not the province of the court to interfere.

You must be certain, however, that your ver-

dict is based upon the evidence and is not the

result of arbitrary desire on the one hand or

of surmise or speculation on the other.

The clerk has prepared forms of verdict for

you, gentlemen of the jur}^ which 3^ou will

make out in this case as indicated to j^ou by
my instructions. When you have reached a
conclusion you will report to the court. As
it has been suggested, the plaintiff will be en-

titled to some verdict at your hands, so the

other form of verdict which the clerk has drawn
up will not be required and all that it will be
necessary for you gentlemen to do is to fill in

the amount of damages which you may find

in favor of the plaintiff. You will bear in mind
that in the federal court the verdict of the

jury must be unanimous, and cannot be by a

less number as in the state courts. You may
now retire, gentlemen of the jury."

the same being contained in the transcript of rec-

ord on pages 288-294, and the giving thereof con-

stituting Exceptions Nos. 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33.

Assignment No. 2.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

-counsel for the defendant (plaintiff in error) to

the introduction in evidence at the trial of said

cause of a certain p'roposition which purports to

be a proposition by the Modern Steel Structural

Company, dated Waukesha, Wisconsin, January 4,

1907, to the American-Pacific Construction Com-
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r)any, whereb}^ the Modern Steel Structural Com-

pany agreed to furnish the structural steel and iron

and reinforcing steel (except the grillage beams,

bolts, separators and column bases mentioned on

page 3 of specifications referred to in said pro-

posal) for the Richelieu Syndicate Theatre and

Office Building known as the Columbia Theatre,

located southeast corner Van Ness Avenue and

Geary Street, San Francisco, California, being-

plaintiff's Exhibit "K", and which was and is in

exactly the following words and figures, to wit:

"Modern Steel Structural Co.
Waukesha, Wis., Jan. 4, 1907.

American-Pacific Construction Co.,

San Francisco, Call.

We propose to furnish you in good order
the following described structural material con-

structed in a workmanlike manner described
as follows and in accordance with drawings
furnished by Joseph D. Smedberg and specifi-

cations also furnished by J. D. Smedberg, iden-

tified with marks:
'Copy No. 1', initialed, 'S. B. H. 12/30/06',

excepting as noted under 'Remarks' on sheet

No. 2 attached.

Namely the structural steel and iron and
reinforced steel (except the grillage beams,
bolts, separators and column bases mentioned
on page 3, of specifications referred to above)
for the Richelieu Realty Syndicate Theatre and
Office Building, knoM'u as the Columbia Thea-
tre; location, southeast corner of Van Ness
and Geary Street, San Francisco, Cali.

Delivery as follows: That portion indicated
by Mr. Sniedhcrfj, shown within red lines on
hlue prints 3-S, 4-S, 7-S, dated by us on hack

of print as received Dec. 31, 1906, and 8-S,

dated by us on back of print as received Jan.
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3, 1907, required to begin ereetion of steel work
on stores to be shipped from our shop 30 days

from our receipt of approved working detail

drawings, signed by Mr. Smedberg.

Balance of steel shipments to be 60 to 90

days from our receipt of balance of approved
working detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smed-
berg.

Remaeks. Our proposition is based on the

substitution in part (as referring to 'Kind,

Character and Fim'sh of Materials' beginning

on page 9 and 'Inspection' beginning page 11

of the" above specifications) of Manufacturers'

Standard Specifications as found in Carnegie's

Hand Book.
Mill Test Reports, within said specifications

are proposed as being satisfactory in the above

respects to Mr. Smedberg, and upon his re-

quest stating upon which portions of the work
he will require such reports, we will comply
therewith by furnishing same.

We also agree that the tonnage is to be de-

termined and paid for by certificates from the

Western Weighing Association at the point of

shipment. It is understood that the American-
Pacific Construction Cojmpany, at their own
expense, will weigh same at the public scales in

San Francisco, and should they prove that the

weights so certified by the Western Weighing
Association at point of shipment are not cor-

rect, we hereby agree to reimburse the Ainieei-

CAN Construction CojNipany, the amount over-

paid us.

Price to be Seventy-seven dollars ($77.00)
per ton: Freight allowed to San Francisco,

Call. Correct figured weights of steel to govern
amount of sale and all steel work to be ac-

cepted at our works by Mr. Smedberg, or his

authorized agent.

Terms of payment as follows: 30 days net

cash from date of invoices.
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Pa3"able in New York, Chicago or Milwaukee
exchange, free of expense to us for the collec-

tion charges.

We are responsible for shop errors in work
not erected by ourselves and for alterations,

whether erected b}^ ourselves or not, only when
notified of same in writing before correction

is made and given an opportunity and reason-

able time to suggest remedy or to ourselves

make alterations.

When delays are caused to our men by
material or labor not furnished by us, you
agree to pay their time, at our regular rates

and their expenses, while so delayed.

This contract is contingent upon our ability

to procure material from the mills, delays of

carriers and upon strikes, accidents or other
delays unavoidable or beyond our reasonable
control.

It is expressly agreed that there are no prom-
ises, agreements of understandings outside of

this contract and that no agent or salesman
has any authority to obligate the Moderx Steel
Structural Company by any terms, stipula-

tions or conditions not herein expressed.
The title and right of possession to all ma-

terial we furnish remains with the Modern
Steel Company until the same has been fully

paid for in cash.

This proposition is for immediate accept-
ance, but althougli accepted does not constitute

a contract until approved by an executive
officer of the jNIodern Steel Structural Com-
pany, and is suliject to change or withdrawal
until so approved.
In case any difference of opinion shall arise

hetwecn the parties to this contract in relation

to the contract, the work to he or that lias been
performed tinder it, such difference shall he
settled hy arbitration by two competent per-
sons, one employed by each party to the eon-
tract, and these two shall have the power to
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name an uninterested umpire (testimony of

F. W. Harding), whose decision shall he hind-

ing on all parties to the contract.

Ship via:

Modern Steel Structural Co,,

Accepted Jany. 17, 1907, by S. B. H.
Approved by S. B. Harding, Pres.

American-Pacific Construction Co.,

Thomas Vigus,
General Manager."

and admitting the same in evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on pages 99 and 190-196,

and said ruling constituting Exception No. 2.

Assignment No, 3.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

counsel for the defendant (plaintiff in error) to the

following question asked by counsel for plaintiff

of the witness, Samuel B. Harding:

'* 'Does it indicate the acceptance of the con-

tract!' To which question witness replied,

'It indicates that I, on receipt of that letter

and enclosure, gave the job a number, and
contract as it were, through which it would be

known in our plant by number. That is the

custom whenever we receive an accepted con-

tract, to at once give it a number.' "

and admitting the same in evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on page 276, and said

ruling constituting Exception No. 3.

Assignment No. 4.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

counsel for the defendant (plaintiff in error) to

the introduction in evidence at the trial of said



58

cause of certain specifications made by Frank T.

Shay, Architect, San Francisco, and Josepli D.

Smedberg, Consulting Engineer, San Francisco,

which purported to be specifications for the struc-

tural steel and iron of an eight-story office building

and theatre to be erected on the southeast corner

of Van Ness Avenue and Geary Street, for the

Eichelieu Syndicate, San Francisco, Cal., being

plaintiff's Exhibit "M", and admitting the same

in evidence as shown in the transcript of record on

page 276, and said ruling constituting Exception

No. 4.

Assignment No. 5.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

counsel for the defendant (plaintiff in error) to

the introduction in evidence at the trial of said

cause of certain detail drawings consisting of 31

sheets on tracing cloth, made by the Modern Steel

Structural Company, which purported to be detail

drawings for a part of the structural steel work

for said Columbia Theatre Building, being plain-

tiff's Exhibits "A", "B", etc., and annexed to

defendant's bill of exceptions, and marked Exhibit

''A" and admitting the same in evidence, as shown

in the transcript of record on pages 276-277, and

said ruling constituting Exception No. 5.

Assignment No. 6.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

counsel for said defendant (plaintiff in error) to
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the following question asked by counsel for plain-

tiff of the witness, Samuel B. Harding:

" 'Now, Mr. Harding, I will ask you if at all

times during the mouths of March, April, May
and June, 1907, the plaintiff stood ready and
willing to carry out the contract with the de-

fendant?' to which question the witness re-

plied, 'It did.'
"

and admitting the same in evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on page 277, and said

ruling constituting Exception No. 6.

Assignment No. 7.

The court erred in refusing to grant the motion

of counsel for said defendant (plaintiff in error)

to strike out the following portion of the answer

of the witness Samuel B. Harding:

" 'And my reasons for that statement would
be this: The American-Pacific Construction
Company, through Mr. Vigus, talked of 1400

tons; the. architect and his engineer talked of

14 or 1500 tons, as I remember it; now the

architect's plans—I am speaking now of the

original plans from which we made our detail

drawings—were incomplete at the time we be-

gan work and Mr. Smedberg came up for the

purpose of completing these drawings, and in-

sofar as we went in examining the original

drawings prepared by the architect, we found
a number of places where they were not up
to the ordinances, and that was the occasion

of our writing our letter of March 26, marked
Exhibit "O", calling attention to the discrep-

ancies, and I therefore, from such investigations

and discrepancies found, think that the build-

ing would run up to the 1500 ton mark, if not

more, as these increases spoken of are 20 per
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cent or 25 per cent. Of course this would not

apply to all the structure.' The question pro-

pounded to the witness was: 'But 1500 tons

at least according to these specifications'?' To
this question the witness answered 'Yes,' and
proceeded as stated before."

and admitting the same in evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on pages 277-278, and said

refusal constituting Exception No. 7.

Assignment No. 8.

The court erred in overruling the objection of

counsel for said defendant (plaintiff in error) to

the following question asked by counsel for plain-

tiff of the witness, Frederick Hoffman

:

' '

' From your examination of the drawings
and specifications of the buildings, in your
judgment, what quantity of structural steel

was required to carry out the plans and speci-

fications for the Columbia Theatre Building in

question?' to which question the witness re-

plied: 'In my judgment it would take in the

neighborhood of 1500 tons.'
"

and admitting the same in evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on page 278, and said ruling

constituting Exception No. 8.

ASSIGN]\rENT No. 9.

The court erred in sustaining the objection of

counsel for plaintiff to the following question asked

by counsel for defendant (plaintiff in error) of

the Avitness, Thomas Vigus:

" 'With whom did you have that conversa-
tion'? It was admitted that the conversation
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sought to be elicited was had with S. B. Hard-
ing, the president of the plaintiff company,"

and excluding the same from evidence as shown in

the transcript of record on pages 278-279, and said

exclusion constituting Exception No. 9.

Assignment No. 10.

The court erred in denying the motion of counsel

for defendant (plaintiff in error) for a judgment

of non-suit and dismissal. Said motion being made

on the following grounds:

''1. That there is a failure of proof in the
following particulars

:

a. It is not shown hy the evidence that
there has been a complete contract; on the
contrary, the evidence shows that the contract
is incomplete and imperfect in this:

That the proposal which is set forth in the
evidence here and dated the 4th day of Janu-
ary, 1907, states that the defendant was to fur-
nish certain structural steel in accordance with
drawings and specifications to be furnished by
Joseph Smedberg, which were identified with
certain marks. It affirmatively appears from
the evidence that those drawings have never
been made or furnished.

2. There is a variance in this: The contract
alleged required the plaintiff to deliver to de-
fendant at San Francisco the fabricated steel

on or before the 1st day of September, 1907,
while the contract placed in evidence by plain-
tiff required delivery to be made within sixty
or ninety days after completion of the de-
tailed drawings,

3. There is a variance in this: The contract
alleged states that there was an agreed tonnage
of 1500 tons of steel to be furnished, while the
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contract placed in evidence sliows there was no
agreed tonnage.

4. The action is premature inasmuch as the

contract ottered in evidence provides: 'in case

any difference of opinion shall arise between
the parties to this contract in relation to the

contract, the work to be, or that has been per-

formed under it, such ditt'erence shall be set-

tled by arbitration by two competent persons,

one employed by each party to the contract, and
these two shall have the power to name an un-

interested umpire whose decision shall be bind-

ing on all parties to the contract.' From the

evidence it appears that there was no arbitra-

tion, and therefore the action is premature.

5. There is no evidence of damages. The
attempt to show loss of profits or damages
failed. There is absolutely no evidence of the

costs, hence there is no way of determining any
damages, except by guesswork."

as shown in the transcript of record on pages 279-

280 and said denial constituting Exception No. 10.

To the discussion of the questions involved in the

case as reflected by the propositions advanced in the

rulings and instructions which constitute the fore-

going assignment of errors we shall now j)roceed.

III.

Argument.

I.

THE PROPOSAL OF THE DEFEXDAXT IX ERROR A>D ITS

ACCEPTANCE BY THE PLAIM'IEF IN ERROR DID NOT CON-

STITUTE A VALID OR ANY CONTRACT (Exhibits "K" and

No. 3, 1). 8!») BECAUSE:

(a) It was incomplete because although it con-

templated furnishing all the structural steel re-
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quired for a building to he constructed in accord-

ance ivith the dratvings and specifications to he fur-

nislied hij Joseph D. Smedherg, such drawings were

never made and tlte specifications were never com-

pleted and therefore there was no means of knowing

or determining the character and quantity of steel

to he furnished.

(h) Neither drawings nor specifications tvere

ever attached to nor made a part of, said proposal;

and neither the drawings nor specifications were

ever completed. The partially completed specifica-

tions referred to drawings for the description of

character and quantity of material, hut such draw-

ings were never coynpleted. Therefore, it was im-

possible for either party to know the quantity of

steel to he fabricated; the manner in which it was

to be fabricated; or the size, form, weight or ap-

pearance of the various steel members entering into

said building or the cost of fabricating the same.

The said alleged contract is uncertain and indefinite

inasmuch as it does not indicate in any manner, the

amount of steel to he fabricated, or the size (long,

short, broad or narrotv) weight (light or heavy)

form, appearance or style iMo which the various

steel members of the proposed building were to be

fal'Hcated. Hence, the defendant in error never

codld fabricate the steel required for the building,

the draivings and designs for which were never

furnished ; until they were finished even the archi-

tect of the proposed building could not describe

any of its members, even though in his mind, he had
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formed some conception of its exterior design. No

architect, engineer or other person could estimate

the quantity without the drawings, as without them

there would he no hams for such estimate.

Even a casual reading of said Exhibit "K" shows

it to be a mere indefinite proposal. It is designated

a proposal. It was submitted by the defendant in

error and under familiar legal principles must be

construed against it and in favor of the plaintiff in

error.

There can be no contract, so called, enforceable

at law unless its terms are certain, and the minds

of the parties to the contract have met and agreed

on its terms. This is horn-book law. It is so ele-

mentary and the authorities bearing thereon so

numerous and relate to cases of such varying cir-

cumstances that only a few, illustrative of these

principles, are cited:

Sec. 1598 of the Civil Code of the State of Cali-

fornia provides: "Where a contract has but a single

object, and such object is unlawful, whether in whole

or in part, or wholly impossible of performance,

or so vaguchj expressed as to he wholhj unascertain-

ahle, the entire contract is void."

In Nave v. McGrane (decided by the Supreme

Court Idaho in 1910), 113 Pac. 82, the action was

one to recover the alleged contract price for certain

building plans and specifications, prepared by plain-

tiff as an architect, for the defendant. It appeared

that plaintiff undertook to furnish complete plans
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and specifications to do whatever was necessary,

according to the use and custom of architects and

builders, to enable defendant to receive bids and let

a contract and to accept as compensation therefor a

percentage of the lowest responsible bid.

In the opinion, after reviewing a number of

authorities as to the nature of plans and specifica-

tions, it is said (113 Pac. 85) :

"If the plans and specifications were not

definite and certain as to the kinds and qualities

of material to be used, the class of workman-
ship, etc., the time within which the building

must be completed, the method of making pay-

ments and other matters, the hid to construct

the huilding would only indicate a u'illi)igness

to negotiate further in regard to the matters

not specified, and an acceptance ivoidd express

a like willingness, hut would not hind either

party. If they did not suhsequently agree upon
a contract, each woidd he without remedy
against the other.

"In Gin Mfg. Co. v. Hurd (C. C), 18 Fed.

673, the court held that in order to constitute

a contract the minds of the parties must meet
and agree upon the terms of it. // any part

remains to he settled, the agreement is incom-
plete.

In Shepard v. Carpenter, 54 Minn. 153, 55

N. W. 906, the court held that an agreement to

enter into a contract in the future, in order to

be enforceable, must express all the material

and essential terms of such future contract, and
not leave any of them to he agreed on in the

future."

In Price v. Stipek, 104 Pac. 195, the complaint

alleged that defendant gave an order for certain
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goods by virtue of his having signed a memorandum
of sale attached to the complaint as "Exhibit A".

Said exhibit contained a list of a large number of

articles of jewelry of various kinds, qualities and

prices, and concluded with a request to ship "the

goods listed in this order upon the terms named

therein and no others, all of which I fully under-

stand and approve."

In the opinion, after stating the facts, the Su-

preme Court of Montana said

:

"It is an elementary rule of the law that, to

constitute a contract, the subject-matter of the

agreement must be expressed by the parties

with a reasonable degree of certainty. 7 Am. &
Eng. Enc. Law (2d ed.) 116. In Thomson v.

Gortner, 73 Md. 474, 21 Atl. 371, the court

said: 'The law is too well settled to admit of

doubt that, in order to constitute a valid verbal

or written agreement, the parties must express
themselves in such terms tJiat if can be ascer-

tained to a reasonable degree of certainty what
they mean. And, if an agreement be so vague
and indefinite that it is not possible to collect

from it the fidl intention of the parties it is

void, for neither the court nor the jury can
make an agreement for the parties. Such a
contract can neither be enforced in equity nor
sued upon at law. It is hardly necessary to

cite any of the numerous authoi'ities that sus-

tain this plain legal proposition.' Doubtless

this Exhibit A, when signed by the defendant,
was intended to be an offer tuhich upon accept-

ance by the plaintiffs would constitute a con-

tract, and such result would have followed if

the defendant had indicated what it was he pro-

posed to purchase. Upon the subject of offer

and acceptance Page in his work on contracts

says: 'The offer must not merely be complete
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in terms, but the terms must be sufficiently

definite to enable the court to determine ulti-

mately whether the contract has been per-

formed or not. If no breach of the contract

could be assigned which could be measured by
any test of damages from the contract, it has
been said to be too indefinite to be enforceable.'

Page on Contracts, Sec. 28. And Parsons on
Contracts, speaking of agreements for the sale

of personal property, announces the same rule

in the following language : The price to be paid
must be certain, or so referred to a definite

standard that it may be made certain. * * * And
the thing sold must be specific, and capable of

certain identification.' 1 Parsons on Contrjicts

(9th ed.) p. 524.

"With these elementary principles before us,

we search this ii^.strument in vain for an answer
to any of the following inquiries: How many
articles of any particular kind or class are
ordered f What is the particidar quality of the

articles intended to be purchased, and what
prices are to he paid for the several articles

f

Did the defendant intend to order some articles

of every description listed by plaintiffs in this

Exhibit A, or did he intend to order only a
portion of them? Did he intend to order belt

buckles worth 15 cents each, or belt buckles
worth $2 each? This exhibit does not itself

answer any of these inquiries, and neither does
it refer to any other source from which the in-

formation can be obtained. The instrument is

clearly of that character w^hich in Section 4999
Rev. Codes [the same as Sec. 1598 of the Cali-

fornia Civil Code] is declared to be void in

the following language: 'Where a contract has
but a single object, and such object is * * * so

vaguely expressed as to be wholly unascer-
tainable, the entire contract is void.'

"Because this instrument is so indefinite and
uncertain in its terms that the intention of the
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parties cannot be ascertained, ^\e hold that it is

not a contract, enforceable at law, and that the

comi)laiut, based upon the alleged breach of it,

does not state facts sufficient to constitute a
cause of action."

In Levy v. Mants, 16 Cal. App. 666, 670, it is held

that the due execution of a contract requires the

assent of at least two minds to each and all of the

essentials of the agreement; and it is only upon

evidence of such assent that the law enforces the

terms of the contract.

In Grafton v. Cummings, 99 U. S. 106, the court

said:

"In an agreement of sale * * * there

must be a sufficient descnption of the thing sold

and of the price to he paid for it. It is, there-

fore, an essential element of the contract, that

it shall contain within itself a description of the

thing sold bv which it must be known or iden-

tified."

In Almini Company v. King, 92 111. App. 276,

defendant in error sued to recover damages for the

failure of plaintiff in error to comply with the

terms of an alleged contract in writing by which it

is said to have agreed to do the painting and glazing

upon a house in process of construction. The con-

tract referred to plans and specifications as "herein

made a part" of it.

In holding the contract unenforceable, the court

said:

"They are not, however, attached to the in-

strument, nor is there anything in the contract

to locate or identify them in any way. The con-

tract, therefore, as offered, and upon which de-
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fendant in error bases his claim to recover, is

incomplete. The original specifications, as pre-
pared, were introduced, but there is no evidence
that they were ever seen by the Almini Com-
pany, or its agents, either before or at the time
the contract was signed, or that they ever were
in any way attached to or made a part of or
identified in the contract, and there is no evi-

dence to the contrary. The incomplete contract
was not admissible in evidence and the objec-

tion thereto should have been sustained."

Also:

Wait Eng. & Arch. Juris., Sees. 214-695;

Worden v. Hammond, 37 Cal. 61

;

Willamette etc. Co. v. College Co., 94 Cal.

229;

Donnelly v. Adams, 115 Cal. 129;

Moir V. Brown, 14 Barb. 39, 50;

Kercheis v. Scliloss, 49 How. Pr. 284-286;

Adams v. Hill, 16 Me. 215.

No case can be cited in which a contract as in-

complete or as uncertain as the alleged contract in

the case at bar was ever sustained.

Remembering the principles announced above, we
quote from the proposal

:

"Proposal from the Modern Steel Structural

Company", dated "Waukesha, Wis. Jan. 4, 1906".

"We propose to furnish you in good order the fol-

lowing described structural material, constructed in

a workmanlike manner described as folloivs and in

accordance with drawings furnished by Jos. D.

Smedberg and specifications also furnished by
Jos. D. Smedberg, identified with marks: "Copy
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#1, initialed, 'S. B. H. 12/30.06'," excepting as

noted under marks on sheet #2 attached, namely,

the structural steel and iron, etc.
'

'

The proposal in providing for the time of deliv-

ery, states that certain of the structural material

was,

"to he sliipped from our sliop 30 clays from our
receipt of approved ivorking detail drawings,
signed by Mr. Smedberg. Balance of steel ship-

ments to be 90 days from our receipt of balance

of approved ivorking detail dratvings, signed by
Mr. Smedberg."

As it will be seen from the specifications (Tr. p.

107) they do not contain any description of the

structural material in question, but refer to the

drawings. The specifications admitted in evidence

were not attached to the alleged "contract" nor were

they complete in themselves nor did they contain

the identifying marks. How could they be com-

plete, when they did not pretend to cover the theatre

portion of the proposed building?

It must be conceded by the defendant in error

—

the uncontradicted evidence forces the concession:

1, That the drawings referred to in the said

proposal were never completed nor furnished nor

signed by Joseph D. Smedberg, the engineer em-

ployed by the Richelieu Realty Syndicate and by its

architect.

(Specifications Tr. pp. 107, 108, 110, and 111

to 124.)

(Test. S. B. Harding, Tr. pp. 104, 131, 165.)

(Test. F. W. Harding, Tr. pp. 201, 255.)
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(a) Even the drawing for the upper part of the

office portion of tlie building was not completed

when the proposal was accepted.

Testimony S. B. Harding (Tr, p. 104).

(b) The papers or drawings, so called, in evi-

dence, are mere detailed dramngs prepared by the

defendant in error for a small part of the office part

of the building and mostly cover the thirty-nine and

one-fourth tons of steel shipped to plaintiff in error

(Tr. bottom pp. 201, 202).

These papers or drawings are not architectural

plans. They are what are known as steel drawings,

some of them being shop details, and there is noth-

ing among them from which one could make an es-

timate of the total steel for the building (Tr. pp.

247-248).

All the drawings and material sheets in evidence

taken together, only cover or represent 256 to 262

tons of steel (Tr. 237; also p. 241).

(c) There is no paper or drawing or anything

else in the record from which any engineer could

determine how many tons of steel would be required

to complete the proposed or projected building. This

is not denied.

Testimony William Breite, Tr. p. 234, p. 235

;

Testimony Peter Zuceo, Tr. p. 241

;

Testimony John D. Galloway, Tr. pp. 247, 248.

2. The drawings for the theatre portion of the

building were never completed.
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See—
Tlie specifications of buildiug offered in evidence

by defendant in error (plaintiff below) over the ob-

jections of plaintiff' in error, contain the following:

"The general plans for the Theatre portion

of the hiiilding heiufi incomplete still, the inten-
tion is to erect the Office BiiiJdiiig portion first

and especially rush ivorli on the first section

colunuis, first and second story beams and side-

ivalh beams. Open holes in columns, beams
and girders for conencting Theatre Cantilevers,

etc., will be drilled in the field as arrange))! oits

of theatre franii))g ca)>not be detcr))ii)ied accu-

rately at presoif, a)id this method will ))ot delay

a)iy portiox of the office buildi,))g co)}structio)i

due to lack of i)ifor)»afion rc(ja)-di)irf co>i)icc-

tion" (Tr. p. 108).

F. W, Harding, vice president of defendant in

error, testified that the drawings as far as the

theatre was concerned were never prepared (Tr.

p. 255; also p. 201),

S. B. Harding, president of the defendant in er-

ror, speaking of the drawings for the building, tes-

tified they were only completed in part (Tr. p. 131;

also p. 165).

3. The "theatre" was intended to constitute

more than one-half of the proposed combined office

and theatre building.

F. W. Harding, vice-president of the defendant

in error, testified that the theatre would constitute

from forty to fifty per cent of the entire building

(Tr. p. 254, p. 255).
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C. H. Snyder, contracting engineer with Milli-

ken Brothers, manufacturers of structural steel,

testified that the theatre would constitute more

than one-half the ground floor, and up to the sixth

story of an eight story building (Tr, pp. 245-246).

John D. Galloway, structural engineer, testified

that the theatre would constitute seventy-five per

cent of the proposed combined building (Tr. p.

249).

Also see Specifications (Tr. p. 108).

It is not even claimed hy defendant in error that

the architectural design or the general plan or any

of the drawings for the theatre were ever made.

And it must he admitted, because there is no tes-

timony to the contrary, that the theatre ivould

constitute ynore than one-half of the proposed

combined office and theatre building.

The essential elements of the alleged contract

in qu^estion are the quantity of steel to be fur-

nished and the price to be paid on the perform-

ance of the contract. The "proposal" required

the payment of seventy-seven (77) dollars per ton

for every ton of steel delivered and required de-

fendant in error to furnish all the steel required

by the drawings and specifications to be thereafter

completed. As to the price the proposal required

the payment of $77 per ton for every ton of steel

delivered; and the quantitj^ of steel to be deliv-

ered depended on drawings to be prepared and

which were never prepared. These drawings and
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specifications were never completed in most ma^-

terial parts. Tliey were not even completed for

the office part of the building and none of them

bearing on the theatre part iva^s even started.

Therefore we have this condition: plaintiff in error

was required to pay $77 per ton for an amount

of steel to he determined in the future, which

amount defendant in error was required to furnish,

and this amount was never determined.

This omission is fatal to the validity of the

contract. It is inchoate, incomplete and uncertain.

Civil Code of California, Sec. 1598;

Nave V. McGrane, 113 Pac. 82;

Price V. Stipek, 104 Pac. 196;

Levy V. Mantz, 16 Cal. App. 666-670;

Grafton V. Cnmmings, 99 U. S. 106;

Gill Mfg.£o. v. Eurd, 18 Fed. 673;

Almim Co. v. King, 92 111. App. 276.

B.

NEITHER DRAWINGS NOR SPECIFICATIONS WERE ATTACHED
TO NOR MADE A PART OF SAID PROPOSAL; AND NEITHER

THE DRAWINGS NOR SPECIFICATIONS WERE IDENTIFIED

BY THE MARKS SPECIFIED IN THE PROPOSAL OR ALLEGED
CONTRACT, NOR WERE EVER COMPLETED. THEREFORE
THE CONTRACT WAS INCOMPLETE AND VOID.

"Very often many of the important stipu-

lations and conditions of a contract are incor-

po]-ated into the specifications as general con-

ditions applicable to almost any work and they

should be made a part of the contract with cer-

tainty. The plans showing the extent and size

of the work undertaken, and specifications
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describing it and the materials to be used, and
the direction as to the performance of the

contract are a necessary and important part
of the contract. They are as binding as are

the terms and covenants of the contract."

Wait, Engineering and Architectural Juris-

prudence, Sec. 214.

"The amount of worli to be performed,
which may be taken as the basis of such an
estimate of the cost are the quantities given

in the specifications or shown on the plans and
described in the contract, and it is submitted

that the advertisement and proposal might be

utilized, if the contract, specifications and plans

did not furnish an estimate of its magnitude
but not it seems estimates by the company's
engineers made after the contract was entered

into.
'

'

Wait Engineering and ArcMtectural Juris-

prudence, 634, Sec. 695.

In Worden v. Hammond, 37 Cal. 61 at page 64,

the court said:

"The specifications are an essential part of

the contract, and are as material as the price

of the work or the terms of payment; for the

contract price was not to be paid until the

barn was completed according to the specifica-

tions. It is not indispensable that the speci-

fications be signed by the party to be charged,

but it will be sufficient if they are referred

to with certainty. But where the reference is

false, it cannot he helped out by oral evidence.

Here the specifications were referred to as

annexed to the contract, and when the plain-

tiffs were permitted to introduce in evidence,

as the specifications referred to, a paper tvhich
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they admitted was never attadied to the con-

tract, if they did, not thereby contradict the

written contract, they added to its terms by oral

evidence."

In Willamette etc. Co. v. College Co., 94 Cal. 229,

at page 233, the court said:

''The insertion of this clause in the contract

made the drawings and specifications an essen-

tial part thereof, as material as was the price

of the work oi' the terms of payment; and until

they were 'annexed' to the contract so that its

entire terms could be ascertained by mere in-

spection, and without oral testimony, the con-

tract was only inchoate and not complete, and
could not form the basis of a recovery."

The two cases from which the foregoing quota-

tions are taken are approved in Donnelly v. Adams,

115 Cal. 129, 131:

"The only distinction between the contract

in the case at bar and those considered in the

cases cited lies in the fact that in the present

instance the reference is to specifications signed

in the other it was to specifications attached.

But the one reference is no less significant

and essential than the other. If the specifi-

cations be not signed, or if they be not at-

tached, in either case there is a false reference

in a written contract which cannot be aided

by parol evidence. In both cases the contract

is left 'inchoate and not complete, and could

not form the basis of a recovery'."

To the same effect see

Gilmore v. Lycoming Fire Ins. Co., 55 Cal.

123.
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This same principle is applied in cases where an

assignment is made for the benefit of creditors and

reference is made to schedule attached, etc. Of

course, it is held in these cases that in the absence

of the schedule, the contract is rendered so indef-

inite and uncertain as to be unenforceable.

Moir V. Brown, 14 Barb. 39, 50;

Merchers v. Schloss, 49 How. Pa. 286.

The principle underlying all these cases sustains

without question the contention that while some

of the terms and conditions of a contract need

not appear in the contract itself, but may be re-

ferred to as being contained in an attached docu-

ment, still where such a reference is made to a

document as being attached or as being ''signed" or

otherwise ''identified" by marks or otherwise, and

it is not "attached" or so "signed" or so "identi-

fied" by marks or otherwise. The contract is void.

In this case the drawings, from which coidd be de-

termined the essential clement of quantity, were

omitted.

The "alleged contract", received in evidence over

our objection, refers to drawings and specifications

"identified with marks: Copy No. 1, Initialed S.

B. H. 12/30/06" (Tr. p. 99).

The specifications received in evidence do not bear

these identifying marks (Tr. pp. 106-124). Hence

our objection (Tr. p. 105).

The initials "S. B. H." are the initials of Samuel

B. Harding, the president of the Modern Steel
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Structural Company, defendant in error. The con-

tract was to be performed in accordance with speci-

fications so identified, and in accordance with no

other specifications. The specifications^ received in

evidence are not so identified. Therefore the refer-

ence in the contract to the specifications is false,

and cannot he helped out hy oral evidence.

Donnelly v. Adams, supra;

Willamette Co, v. College Co., supra

;

Worden v. Hammond, supra.

As the reference is false and cannot be aided by

parol evidence, the alleged contract is left "inchoate

and not complete, and could not form the basis of a

recovery." (Donnelly v. Adams, supra.)

Obviously the rule announced is correct. With-

out completed drawings and identified specifications

no one could determine the size, weight, or appear-

ance of the various steel members which would enter

into the finished building. Without a completed de-

sign no one could surmise what the general appear-

ance or shape even of the exterior of the theatre

would be.

As was said in Nave v. McGrane, 113 Pac. 82, at

page 85:

"If the plans and specifications were not def-

inite and certain as to the kind and qualities

of material to be used, the class of workman-
ship, etc., the time within which the Iniilding

must be completed, the method of making pay-

ments and other matters, the bid to construct

the building would only indicate a willingness

to negotiate further in regard to the matters
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not specified, and its acceptance would express
a like willingness, 'but would not bind either

party if they did not subsequently agree upon
a contract, each would be without remedy
against the other."

In the case at bar both the specifications and

drawings being incomplete and unidentified it was

open to the owner and the contractor practically to

plan their own building, or by failing to agree on

drawings and specifications to avoid the contract.

It is a matter of daily observation that build-

ings of the same dimension may vary consider-

ably in the amount of steel required for their

constituent members. Some eight story buildings

are often constructed with columns, beams and gir-

ders of sufficient strength and weight to carry addi-

tional stories; while others are constructed with

columns, beams and girders as light and thin as

the nature of the structure will permit. It is also

a matter of common knowledge that one architect

will design a building with massive pillars and

numerous steel ornaments of great weight, while

another will boast of the simplicity, lightness and

plainness of his design. Since these conditions

are true, how may we know the number of tons

of steel that may be required for a structure until

the drawings are completed. Therefore, as the spe-

cifications referred to drawings which were

completed, even if they had been identified as re-

quired by the contract, and admittedly they were

not, the amount of steel required could never be

determined.
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To bring out in strong relief the incomplete, un-

certain and indefinite nature of this alleged contract,

it is onh" necessary to put this inquiry : Suppose the

defendant in error in this action had refused to fur-

nish the materials contemplated by its proposal, and

the i^laintiff in error insisted that it was entitled to

performance upon the part of the defendant in

error, what structural material, with reference to

tonnage, size, dimensions, character, etc., would

the defendant in error be compelled to furnish 1 In

the absence of plans, specifications and detail draw-

ings, it would be absolutely impossible to determine

just what would be required.

II.

EVEN IF IT WERE ASSUMED THAT THE PROPOSAL A>T)

ACCEPTANCE CONSTITUTED A COMPLETED, VALID CON-

TRACT THE JUDGMENT MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE NO

DAMAGE IS SHOWN.

In the preceding main di\'ision of this brief we

have shown that there is no valid contract, the

breach of which would sustain an action for dam-

ages. The defendant in error in its three succes-

sive complaints filed in this action insisted on mairp-

taining an action for damages for breach of an

express contract. It does not seek to recover the

value of the steel sold and delivered. In such an

action plaintiff in error might have been com-

pelled to admit judgment for the steel fabricated
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and delivered, viz.: for $3021.90. Defendant in

error elected to maintain its action for damages.

Assuming that the action is one for the recov-

ery of damages for the breach of an express con-

tract the general rule is that the damage recover-

able is the difference between the cost of perform-

ing the contract and the contract price.

See

Hinckley v. Pittsburg Bessemer Steel Co.,

121 U. S. 264;

U. S. V. Belum, 110 U. S. 338;

Sullivan v. McMillan, 8 So. 450 (Fla.)
;

Wells V. Association, 99 Fed. 222, 53 L. R.

A. 33 (extended note)

;

Goodrich v. Hubhard, 51 Mich. 63, 16 N. W.
232.

The rule announced is subject to the qualifica-

tions that a reasonable deduction is to be made

for the less amount of time required by the plain-

tiff, its employees and factory and for the release

from trouble, risk and responsibility attendant

upon a full execution of the contract on the part

of the plaintiff.

Kimball v. Deere, 108 Iowa 685, 77 N. W.
1041-1044;

U. S. V. Speed, 8 Wall. 77

;

McMaster v. State, 108 N. Y. 542, 15 N. E.

417.
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In Insley v. Shcpard, 31 Fed. 869, at page 873,

the court said:

"The plaintiffs' proof as to the amount of
profits which they would have made by the
performance of the work is not disputed, or
in any way contradicted hy the defendants

;

but the court must assume that there should
be a reasonable deduction from this theoreti-

cal amount of profit for a 'release from care,

trouhJe, risk and responsibility, attending a
full execution of the contract'. The execution
of the conti'act in question involved consider-

able risk. The piers which were to be erected

by the contractors might have been washed
out by a fieshet in the river; a span, or some
portion of their trestle work might have been
destroyed by high water; there might have
been delays by bad weather, or inability to

procure material, to such an extent as to have
very materially reduced the theoretical profits

upon this contract. The figures of the plain-

tiffs' witnesses are based on the assumption
that there would be no drawbacks nor losses

in the execution of the contract, w^hen every
practical man knows that losses and delays

are as a rule encountered in almost every eon-

tract like this. Hence I have concluded to take

30 per cent from the theoretical profits which
the plaintiffs' proofs show they would have
made by executing this contract for the per-

formance of such work."

In United States v. Speed, 8 Wallace (75 U. S.)

77, the plaintiff agreed to pack for the U. S. Gov-

ernment 50,000 hogs, which were to be furnished,

together with materials for packing, by the govern-

ment. The government after furnishing some

16,000 hogs refused to furnish the remainder, al-
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though the plaintiff was ready to pack the same.

Justice Miller, delivering the opinion of the court,

said:

"And we do not believe that any safer rule,

or one nearer to that supported by the gen-
eral current of authorities, can be found than
that adopted by the court, to wit: the dif-

ference between the cost of doing the work
and what claimants were to receive for it,

making a reasonable deduction for the less

time engaged, and for release from the care,

trouble, risk and responsibility attending a

full execution of the contract."

Sullivan et al. v. McMillan et al., 26 Fla. 543

(8 So. 450), was an action originally brought by

McMillan and Wiggins to recover damages for

the breach of contract in and by which plaintiffs

agreed to cut and deliver logs of specified dimen-

sions. One of the questions involved in the case

was the cost of delivering a large number of logs

at the rate of 100 logs per day requiring deliveries

extending over a period of two years. Referring

to this question and speaking of the testimony

of one of the plaintiffs as to what it would have

cost to deliver the logs in question, the court

said (8 So. 463):

"The absence from his statement of the num-
ber of teams it would have been necessary to

keep on hand and employ to ensure their deliv-

ery of so many logs daily during so long a

period is to our minds strong evidence in it-

self that he did not understand that he was
speaking of such a proposition; but whether
he did or not so understand we do not think

his testimony was sufficient to justify a ver-
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diet upon the basis of the delivery of 100 or

any other number per day; for when he pro-

ceeds to itemize the expenses of delivering, he

omits cert ((in elements of expe)ise ivhick, in

view of the items he mentioyis, suggests them-

selves, and independent of which no verdict

approximating justice can he re-mlered. Had
the contract been performed in full the value

of the use of the teams required for perform-

ance would have been an element of expense.

When he ceased to perform, his expense ceased

;

his teams then became free to be used in any
other venture, and were no longer employed
in this; or, if he had been hiring them from
other persons, the cost of their use would have
ceased. It cannot be that the plaintiffs are to

be better off than they would have been if

they had performed the contract; yet if the

value of the use of, or the cost of hiring, the

oxen which would have been employed in the

performance of the contract is not included as

an expense, it is certain that less expense is

estimated, and consequently greater profit al-

lowed, than would have been in case of actual

performance. This item of expense, and we
do not say there are not others of the same
kind, is necessarily shown by the fact that teams

are proved to have been used in the perform-

ance of the contract. It is of course to be dis-

tinguished from any item of expense which

those given do not suggest as necessarily at-

tending the performance of the contract. It

is a patent defect in the testimony of the

witness and destroys it as the basis of a just

or legal verdict, whatever the number of logs

to be delivered daily was."

In the case of Mastcrson v. Majjor, 7 Hill 61;

42 A. D. 38, at page 45, the court said:

"It is a very easy matter to figure out large

profits upon paper; but as will be found, these.
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in a great majority of cases, become seriously
reduced when subjected to the contingencies
and hazards incident to actual performance. A
jury should scrutinize with care and watchful-
ness any speculative or conjectural account of

the cost of furnishing the article, that would
result in a very unequal bargain between the
parties, by which the gains and benefits, or, in

other words, the measures of damages against
the defendants, are unreasonably enhanced.
They should not overlook the risks and con-

tingencies which are almost inseparable from
the execution of contracts like the one in ques-

tion, and which increase the expense inde-

pendently of the outlays in labor and capital."

Another qualification to the general rule first

above stated is expressed in the case of United

States V. Belmn, 110 U. S. 338. The facts of that

case were as follows:

One Roy and the United States entered into a

contract to improve the harbor of New Orleans,

and later, upon the contract with Roy being an-

nulled, the surety on Roy's bond was authorized

to fulfill the contract. He went to expense in

providing machinery and materials and did a por-

tion of the work when the government finally can-

celled the contract. The claimant thereupon sold

the materials on hand. The Court of Claims al-

lowed him for his actual expenditures in the prose-

cution of the work, together with the unavoidable

losses on materials. The government appealed on

the ground that by making a claim for profits

the claimant asserted the existence of the con-

tract and could only recover nominal damages if
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he was unable to show that profits would have

been made. The Supreme Court, however, speak-

ing by Justice Bradley, in affirming the decision

of the Court of Claims, said:

"The prmia facie measure of damages for
the breach of the contract is the amount of the

loss which the injured party has sustained

thereby. If the breach consists in preventing
the performance of the contract, without the

fault of the other party, who is willing to per-

form it, the loss of the latter will consist of two
distinct items or grounds of damages, namely:
^rst, irliat he hm alreadij expended toward per-

for)iiaiice (less the indue of materials on hand)

;

secondly, the profits that he would realize by
performing the whole contract. The second
item, profits, cannot always be recovered. They
may be too remote and speculative in their

character, and therefore incapable of that clear

and direct proof which the law requires. But
when in the language of Chief Justice Nelson,

in the case of Masterson v. Mayor of Brook-
lyn, they are the 'direct and immediate fruits

of the contract,' they are free from this ob-

jection; they are then 'part and parcel of the

contract itself, entering into and constituting

a portion of its very elements; something

sti])ulated for, the I'ight to the enjoyment of

which is just as clear and plain as to the en-

joyment of any other stipulation.' Still, in

order to furnish a ground of recovery in dam-
ages, they must be proved. If not proved, or

if they are of such a remote and speculative

character that they cannot be legally proved,

the party is confined to his actual outlay and

expense. This h>ss, however, he is clearly en-

titled to recover in all cases, unless the other

party who has voluntarily stopped the per-

formance of the contract, can show to the

contrary."
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In connection with the general rule and its

modifcatiotis hereinbefore stated we must remem-

her that where the evidence shows actual damtage,

but fails to show with reasonable certainty the ex-

tent of such damage, plaintiff is entitled to nominal

damages only.

See

i?. B. Co. V. Toivn of Cicero, 157 111. 48; 41

N. E. 640;

Hudson V. Archer, 9 S. D. 240; 68 N. W. 541.

The principles of law announced above were

covered by the instructions proposed by the plain-

tiff in error but which instructions the court re-

fused to give to the jury. It instructed the jury

on the general rule first al)ove stated but ignored

all the modifications of that rule which were pe-

culiarly applicable to the facts of the case at bar.

The evidence clearly brought this case within

the modifications of the rule above stated, but no

instructions covering these modifications were

given. It appears that the drawings were never

completed and that delays would ensue awaiting

their completion. All these delays in performance

militated against the possible profit. This situa-

tion was indicated in the letter written by defend-

ant in error to plaintiff in error on February 12th,

1907, nearly six weeks after beginning work. In

that letter the president of defendant in error

stated

:

" * * * there seems to be a considerable

portion of the structure, the form and design
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of which is yet unsettled. The architect may
have all this clear in his mind, but has not
made it clear to us through his representa-

tive, Mr. Smedberg, whom we understand has
written several times for added information.

"It seems that Mr. Smedberg cannot be
working in perfect harmony, for in being sent

on such a mission as he is apparently sent

here, he should be able to furnish us with
such information and data regarding the struc-

ture, in advance of our work, so that we would
not be handicapped and delayed as we have
been thus far in the preparation of the detail

drawings.

"We have not complete information as to

how the steel frame should be built in its

entirety. If we had this, we could make rapid
progress. We can only depend on Mr. Smed-
berg and he undoubtedly had no knowledge
of the requirements. He has approved three

detail drawings thus far and we judge that

there will be from 75 to 80 drawings on the

building. We cannot go ahead as fast as we
would like and complete as we go because of

the information which is lacking. When we
fabricate the steel for this building, we want
to do it in some kind of rotation and the

drawing work will be at a standstill, and we
will be obliged to suspend work unless we
are given the requirements to go ahead with.

Had we known that Mr. Smedberg would not

be in possession of all the information when
he arrived here (which was the understanding

between your Co. and the writer when in San
Fran.), we would never have signed the con-

tract, or begun any work until we knew that

this information was all available, as it would
only repeat a hundred unpleasant experiences.

It is just dragging the whole matter into a

muddle and the boys who are working on it
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have already lost heart. Therefore please give
us an order to suspend work until we know
what to do, or in some way tell us what is

wanted in this building.

*'We put up a 3,000 ton job last summer
in 93 days from the time we got the contract
and it was only because all concerned knew
what they wanted. This job of about 1,200
tons is going to drag for months at this rate

and we will have to put other work in its

place if we do not get a complete starting point

at once" (Tr. pp. 223-224). See also Defend-
ant's Exhibit "F" (Tr. p. 226).

Even the specifications made the performance

of the alleged contract most onerous (Tr, p. 108).

There is no evidence allowing for time that would

have been expended in carrying out the contract,

nor is there an}^ evidence of the saving resulting

to the defendant in error by non-use of equipment

and machinery.

As was substantially said in the leading case of

Masterson v. The Mayor etc. (supra), it is one

thing to figure profits on paper in advance of

the performance of the contract and quite a dif-

ferent matter to perform the contract at the profits

so figured.

Measured by the principles fixed by the above

decisions, as applied to the evidence in this case,

the trial court erred grievously in refusing instruc-

tions one (1) and two (2) proposed by the plain-

tiff in error. These instructions directed the jury

to return a verdict for the plaintiff in error be-

cause :
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1. The alleged contract was void;

2. There was no e\ddence showing either the

quantity of steel to be delivered pursuant to the

alleged contract nor the cost to the defendant in

error for the full performance of said alleged

contract.

These instructions presented basic propositions

of law that had been repeatedly discussed in sev-

eral demurrers Ijefore the trial court and also many

times during the trial on objections to the intro-

duction of evidence. They go to the very funda-

mentals of the case. If there is no contract there

is nothing to sustain the alleged cause of action.

If it be conceded for the sake of argument that

the contract is valid, but that there is a failure

of evidence in the number of tons of steel required

by such contract, then no damage was sustained

hy its breach which can be recovered. By
both instructions questions were presented that ran

through the whole case from its beginning and

the various rulings by the trial court on these

questions at the successive stages of the case in

that court constitute such "plaiyi errors" that this

court would notice them even if they had not been

assigned or specified.

1.

The contract was void. This has been fully

discussed in the preceding division of this brief,

and need not be ararued here.
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2.

Neither by the alleged contract, nor by any paper

exhibit nor any other document referred to

tlierein, nor by any evidence in connection with

such contract, wm there ant/ showing made of the

amomit of steel to he delivered, pursuant to the

terms of the alleged contract. And, as a neces-

sary consequence, there was not and could not

have been any evidence or showing of cost to the

defendant in error (Modern Steel Structural Com-

pany), of the full performance of sadd alleged con-

tract.

The court instructed the jury that the contract

ivas valid, "as alleged". This meant, according

to the complaint, a contract for fifteen hundred

tons. The court added that the contract had been

violated by plaintiff in error and that the only

question to be considered was the amount of dam-

ages. The counsel for plaintiff in error conceded,

during the trial, as they do now, that in an appro-

priate action, viz: for goods sold and delivered,

the defendant in error ivould l>e entitled to a

verdict for $3021.09, the cost of the steel delivered,

but not as damages for breach of contract. Unless

this action can be considered as an action for

goods sold and delivered, there should be no judg-

ment for the defendant in error, even though plain-

tiff in error might in a proper action concede that

judgment for the cost of the steel delivered should

be awarded in favor of defendant in error.
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The present action is for breach of contract.

We contend that the evidence fatally fails to sus-

tain the claim for damage.

The rule of law without the modifications ap-

plicable to this ease, as admitted by all the authori-

ties, is that the defendant in error should recover

"the difference between the cost of doing the

tcork and what claimant (defendant in error)

was to receive for it, making a reasonahle de-

duction for the less time employed and for re-

lease from the care, trouble, risk and respon-

sibiliti/ attoiding full execution."

U. S. V. Speed, supra,

and these elements must be sustained by "that

clear and direct proof which the law requires".

U. S. V. Behan, 110 U. S. 338.

Therefore, defendant in error was required to

prove two essential facts:

(a) The cost of doing the work;

(b) The amount it was to receive for the work.

Both these elements depended absolutely on the

quantity of steel to be furnished. The price per

ton to be paid by plaintiff in error was fixed by

the proposal at $77 per ton, but the proposal was

silent on the number of tons to be delivered. Unless

the number of tons can be ascertained, there is

no way of determining either the "cost" of doing

the work, or the "amount" defendant in error was

to receive for performing the alleged contract.

Without "clear and direct proof" of these ele-
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ments, no judgment for defendant in error can

be sustained.

To meet the demands of this rule of law, de-

fendant in error claimed that the evidence showed

that fifteen hundred (1500) tons of steel were re-

quired by the terms of the alleged contract. There

is no record that any amount was to be delivered

and the only evidence to sustain the claim is

the testimony of three witnesses for defendant in

error, viz.:

S. B. Harding, president of the defendcmt

in error;

F. W. Harding, vice president of defendant

in error;

Frederick W. Hoffman, an employee of de-

fendant in error.

To show the absolute ivant of a/ny evidence on

the question of the quantity of steel, tve quote from

their testimony :

S. B. Harding said "about fifteen hundred tons",

would be required because Mr. Vigus "talked of

1400 tons; the architect and his engineer talked of

14 or 1500 tons, as I remember it." The archi-

tect's plans were incomplete and in examining the

plans, I found many discrepancies and from such

investigation and discrepancies found, think that

building would run up to 1500 tons, if not more

(Tr. p. 130, p. 131).

Mr. S. B. Harding's opinion changed with a

rapidity that is convincing proof of the unrelia-
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bility of this character of testimony, for in two

letters to the plaintiff in error written in Febru-

ary, 1907, he stated "about 1200 tons" would be

required (Tr. pp. 221, also 227).

Frederick Hoffman, an employee of defendant in

error, testified (Tr. pp. 176-178)

:

"To a certam extent I am familiar with tlie

plans and specifications for the Columbia
Theatre job at San Francisco, which came into

the shop of the plaintiff early in January, 1907.

At that time I knetv, from the plans and speci-

-fieations, the length, width and height of the

huildiiig, and generally in regard to its dimen-
sions. I had nothing to do with the making of
the detail drawings.

Q. From your examination of the drawings
and specifications of the building, in your judg-
ment, what quantity of structural steel was re-

quired to carry out the plans and specifications

for the Columbia Theatre Building in ques-

tion?

A. In my judgment, it would take in the

neighborhood of 1500 tons.

The Witness (continuing). That would be

a fair estimate; I arrived at approximately
1500 tons of structural steel by my past expe-

rience, considering buildings of similar con-

struction and size, and considering the plans

and specifications and the city ordinances of

San Francisco, covering such buildings at that

time. I had before me the city ordinances and
specifications. I have no interest in this liti-

gation."

On cross-examination he testified:

"I did not take of the quantities from the

plans of the Columhia Theatre huilding. I said

it u'ould take 1,500 tons of steel hecause I just
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estiynated that on past experience with other
duildings and passed my judgment on the speci-

fications and what they called for. It was only
an estimate/'

F. W. Harding, vice-president of the defendant

in error, testified (direct examination) :

u * * * J ^^^^ state very approximately
that at least 1500 tons of steel would have been
required to construct that building. * * *

Although it never became part of my duty to

remember quantities, but I was required to

place valuations on work. The estimating of
quantities woidd he done by our clerical force"
(Tr. p. 182).

On cross-examination he testified:

''I estimated that 1500 tons of steel tvoidd he

required for the huilding, hut I could not take

the quantities to determine that. I had to take

the cubic-foot rule, beco/use the general draiv-

ings were not completed for the entire build-

ing, but we knew the size of the building" (Tr.

p. 201).

This is the only suggestion of testimony in the

record to prove the quantity of steel that was

required to be furnished under the alleged contract.

This is all there is on the subject, yet the court

instructed the jury that the contract as alleged

was proved. The alleged contract was pleaded in

legal effect and it was alleged that it was a con-

tract to furnish 1500 tons of steel (Tr. p. 44).

Where is there any evidence of such a contract?

Where is there any support for the court's in-

struction ?
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There is no testimony on the amount of steel

to be furnished.

S. B. Harding expresses Iiis opinion of 1500

tons because some one "talked about" that amount.

Frederick Hoffman, on cross-examination, knew

nothing. He simply "estimated"—the better word

would be "guessed".

F. W. Harding admitted he knew nothing about

taking quantities, but stated "very approximately

that at least 1500 tons". It was not a part of

his business to remember quantities but he remem-

bers this amount (Tr. p. 182). The only people

wJio did the estimating of quantities for the de-

fendant in error—members of its clerical force

(Tr. p. 182)—were not called to testify. Why not?

The testimony of witnesses S. B. Harding, Freder-

ick Hoffman and H. A. Sell was taken at the plant

of defendant in error where all its clerks were

and tvhile they were present. Why were they not

invited to testify? Because they would have heen

compelled to answer that there teas no means of

determining the number of tons. They would have

testified with witness Breite (Tr. pp. 234-235) that be-

fore the number of tons of steel for any particular

big building may be determined, there must be

a complete design showing each steel member that

enters into the building and that without the

complete design it is not possible to determine

the tonnage. Without that complete design it is

impossible to tell the number of tons because there
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is no way of knowing the size or shape of the

steel beams, girders, columns, trusses or canti-

levers. Every architect has his own idea of beauty.

Every architect determines for himself whether he

will adopt the more expensive truss construction

or adopt the column plan of construction. He

may prefer heavy or light construction. He may

build for today, or so design the contemplated

structure that it will carry extra stories. But

until the design and drawings are completed no

one can determine these elements. Even the archi-

tect does not know until he is advised of the

amount the owner is willing to spend. The draw-

ings showed the space the theatre would occupy

but mthout any size, or figures or dimensions on

it from which one could draw any conclusion what-

soever.

All the witnesses agreed that it would not be

possible to "cube" such a building because the en-

gineer or the man trying to "cube" the building

cannot put himself in touch with the architect's

idea or his plan of construction. The architect

may design some very elaborate architectural fea-

tures that require much more steel than other fea-

tures, and until the design is completed it would

be impossible for a man to cube up a theatre build-

ing, or a hall, or a church or a large auditorium

or building of any such character. And agreed

with withncss Galloway (Tr. p. 248) that the

method of ascertaining the weight of steel in a

building of this character by "cubing it" is
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regarded merely as a general method and is in

no sense of the term accurate; that on account

of the complications entering into a theatre build-

ing and design of a theatre building, it is

impossible to tell the total weight of struc-

tural steel in such a building without knowing

the design; that the only way to determine

the weight of steel for such a building would be

to have plans prepared and estimates made, piece

by piece.

F. W. Harding, the vice-president of the defend-

ant in error, when he was not thinking of the neces-

sity of establishing that 1500 tons of steel would

be required to complete the building, testified as

follows

:

"We cannot tell how to fabricate the steel

until we have the design from the architect;

until ive hwue that design we don't know what
the members are going to consist of ahsolntely.

If we were engineers we could, otherwise we
cannot use our own judgment in a matter of

that kind. We have to wait for the architect"

(Tr. p. 225).

If, until they have the design from the architect

they could not tell of what the members consisted

how could they tell the weight of "steel members"

they did not know"? Who is to say how long or

how short, how heavy or how light, how thick or

how thin they may be designed.

This is not a case where there is any conflict

in the testimony. It is a case where there is al-
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most perfect agreement among the witnesses on

material facts. All agree that there was no 7neet-

ing of minds on an essential element of the alleged

contract—the drawings that were never completed.

All agree there was no meeting of minds on the

drawings and designs for the theatre portion (this

constituted more than one-half of the combined

office and theatre building) and on the amount of

steel to be furnished. These essential elements

were "to he fiirnisJied" but were never furnished.

The result is there is no contract and no way to

determine the cost of performing it to the de-

fendant in error or the price to be paid on per-

formance by plaintiff in error. Both parties took

chances on the ultimate completion of the contract.

It was never completed, and the law declares there

is no contract and consequently there can be no

action on the alleged contract.

The witnesses even agree that the number of

tons of steel in a proposed building where there

are no complete drawings cannot be determined

by "cubing" and that it is absolutely impossible

to determine the number of tons until the design

is known, if the proposed building is a church,

theatre or auditorium, or any building where there

must be great spans and considerable truss work.

This is the testimony of John D. Galloway, struc-

tural steel engineer, mid it ivas not disputed hy

any of the witnesses for the defendant in error

(Tr. p. 248). W. Breite corroborated him (Tr. p.

235).
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This testimony shows there could be no evidence

of either:

(a) Tlie cost to defendant in error of doing

the work.

(b) Tlie amount defendant in error was to re-

ceive on tlie completion of the alleged contract,

because

:

There was no way of knowing the quantity of

steel required to be furnished.

Even if ive assume the amount of steel "to he ftir-

nislied" could he determined, there is no evidence of

its cost to defendant in error.

The officers of the defendant in error should

be better informed than any one else of "its cost"

of doing the proposed work. Unless they knew

this cost and gave evidence of it, the jury's ver-

dict rests on specidation and conjecture.

It is apparent there was no less "s]3eculation and

conjecture" with the officers of the defendant in

error than with the jury.

On the 25th day of January, 1907, the presi-

dent of the defendant in error wrote:

"Now, if you can buy this job one cent
clicaper anywhere we will be very much pleased
to relieve vou from the obligation to us" (Tr.

p. 188).

Evidently, then, he did not think there was

$30,000 profits in the alleged contract. Nor did
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he believe there was this fortune in a contract

for about $115,500, the amount he fixes as the total

contract price, when, on January 31, 1907, he

wrote

:

"He admitted that he did, and the writer said

to him tliat we regretted that there was any
misunderstanding between yourself and the
writer as we felt in the whole transaction that

we ivere more carrying out the obligation made
hy G. W. Harding of Los Angeles than any-
thing else as tve were so piled up with work,
and the ivriter further said that we uwuld he
pleased if we eould sublet it to some one and
get Old even and at the same time serve you,

but if we could not we were going to stick

by and fill the order" (Tr. p. 196).

But a little over two months later this immense

profit unexpectedly appears.

The bankruptcy of the Richelieu Realty Syndi-

cate prevented the completion of the contract. The

"inexperience" and "unfamiliarity" (these are the

words of the president of defendant in error) of

plaintiff in error with the overnight growth of

profits in, and the method of, the steel business

prompted it to wire the true conditions to defend-

ant in error and ask it to telegraph its lowest

figures in settlement of the matter. Probably de-

fendant in error's knowledge of this "inexperience"

and "unfamiliarity" of plaintiff in error furnished

its answer. It asked $30,230 (Tr. p. 138). It was

asked for an itemized statement of its claim and

defendant in error itemized it as follows:
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Material as per accompanying 4
sheets—weight—275481 lbs. at $1.90

unloaded in our yard $5234.14

Car of steel inyoiced 3021.09

Expenses and advanced J. D. Smedherg 350.00

Shop drawings 1441.53

Unused shop space lying idle 20183.24

Total $30230.00

(Tr. p. 149).

Included in this figure is the item "Expenses and

advanced J. D. Smedberg $350". This "loan" is

another item of profit that probably is charged to

"inexperience" and "unfamiliarity".

The attorneys for the plaintiff in error were dis-

satisfied with this so-called itemized statement and

wrote defendant in error for additional informa-

tion. It replied under date of October 15, 1907,

that the former figures were made up "somewhat

hurriedly" and then fixed the damages at $30,-

931.23 (Tr. p. 211). This estimate of its damage
by the alleged breach covers three pages of the

transcript of record (Tr. pp. 217, 218, 219) and
includes in addition to the actual cost, "overhead

expenses", namely a percentage of the costs added
to the cost and estimated as the general expenses

of doing business. The trial court refused to allow

the plaintiff in error to show these "costs", hold-

ing they were not part of the cost of the contract.

The next estimate of the damage is given in its

original complaint and the sum demanded is again

changed to $30,881.23 (Tr. p. 10).
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The first amended complaint asks the same sum,

but the second amended complaint fixes the damage

at $35,164.17 (Tr. p. 47).

The president differed from all these in fixing

the cost of doing the work under the alleged con-

tract as he fixed the damages at $34,470 (Tr. p.

156) while the vice-president differed from the

president and all others and fixed it at $29,637

(Tr. p. 186).

There must have been at least six different esti-

mates of the ''cost" to defendant in error of doing

the work under the alleged contract as the contract

price was fixed in all these estimates at $115,500. The

law requires this element of "cost" to be established

with certainty. How can there be any certainty

when the men who were to do the work are unable

to agree on its cost"?

It is worthy of notice that all these estimates

seem to fix the damages at about $30,000. Whether

the item of "overhead expenses" is included or not,

the damages are fixed at about $30,000.

By letter wi'itten on the 15th day of October,

1907, the total damage by the alleged breach is

fixed at $30,230 (Tr. p. 219). In this total sum
the item of "overhead expenses" is charged to the

cost of this contract. This item of "overhead ex-

penses" properly chargeable to this contract is

fixed at $7171.23 (Tr. p. 164).

The testimony at the trial did not include the

"overhead expenses" as part of the cost and the
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damage therefore should be $7171.23 greater than

$30,230, but F. W. Harding fixes it at $29,637

(Tr. p. 186). Could there be more speculation,

conjecture or uncertainty than that with which

the witnesses for, and officers of the defendant in

error, clothed the element of cost?

By the testimony of S. B, Harding, president of

the defendant in error, the damages are fixed at

$34,470 (Tr. p. 156). In his estimate of the cost

for doing the work he does not include any part

of the "overhead expenses" and yet he admitted

that properly such "overhead expenses" should be

distributed proportionately over all contracts. S. B.

Harding testified (Tr, p. 169) as follows:

"Q. Your overhead expense, as I under-
stand it, is for the general management of the
business of the Modern Steel Structural Com-
pany, applying to all contracts and all w^ork be-
ing done by that company?
A. Yes, divided proportionally."

By this testimony, the damages claimed by the

defendant in error witJtout alJowing any portion of

the overlicad expense as part of its cost were fixed

at $34,470 (Tr. p. 156); the damages fixed by
Mr. Simpson, the secretary of the Company, in

his letter of October 15, 1907, and in which he

allowed as part of the cost of doing the work a

proportion of the overhead expense, were $30,931.23

(Tr. pp. 211-222). The more we read the more
uncertain the situation becomes.

It is admitted that the "overhead expense" of the

defendant in error during the time the contract in
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question was being fulfilled by it, amounted to

$86,055.76 annually, or $7171.23 per month (Tr. p.

164), and that one-third of the plant of defendant

in error for a period of from sixty to ninety days

(in the absence of delay) would be used in com-

pleting the contract in question (Tr. p. 171).

Hence the overhead expense that should be charged

against this work would be at least $7171.23.

Despite the testimony of S. B. Harding, the lower

court prevented the "overhead expense" being con-

sidered as part of the cost of the work nothwith-

standing he testified that every item of "overhead

expense" bore on the cost of doing this work

(Tr. pp 163-164).

THAT NO DAMAGES WERE SUSTAINED IS ALSO APPARENT

FROM THE FACT THAT THE EVIDENCE SHOWS WITHOUT

CONFLICT THAT DEFENDANT IN ERROR WOULD NOT HAVE

MADE ANY PROFIT—BUT WOULD HAVE LOST MONEY—IF
THE CONTRACT HAD BEEN PERFORMED.

We shall demonstrate hy the testimony of the

ivitnesses of defendant in error that it tvould not

have made <a profit—but would have lost money if

the contract had been performed, and that the at-

tempt to procure profits was an effort to coin th e

misfortunes of plaintiff in error into false profits

for the defendant in error .

In this demonstration we shall rely on the records

and' the testimony offered hy the defendant in error.
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During the taking of tlie first deposition of S. B.

Harding at Wanliesha, afterward superseded by

the deposition received in evidence at the trial,

jDlaintiff in ei'ror obtained a copy of the cost sheet

of tlie work performed under the alleged contract

in this suit. This deposition was taken more than

tivo years before the trial. The fact that plaintiff

in error had a copy of this record was forgotten

until it was produced in court during the cross-

e:xamination of witness F. W. Harding at the close

of the case of defendant in error. Its real effect

will be more clearly ap^jarent now. Tliis "cost

sheet" in connection with the testimony of wit-

nesses for defendant in error proves to a mathe-

matical certainty that the work under this contract

could not have been finished at a profit.

In cases of this kind it is usually most difficult to

meet the claim for damages. The claimant asserts

that its cost for doing the work would be a certain

figure, which cannot be disputed excejDt by its own
books which are often in such form as to add to

the general confusion. If you prove the cost to

another firm for doing the work the claimant usually

answers that his methods, or something else, reduces

the cost. Here by a chance of kind fortune, we
are able to overcome by the records and sworn testi-

mony of the claimant any such unwarranted claim.

The cost sheet of the Modern Steel Structural

Company (defendant in error) for the contract in

question is printed in the record (Tr. p. 205) but

through the inadvertence of the j^rinter it is headed
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"Ledger Sheet American-Pacific Construction Com-

pany". This error was corrected at the oral argu-

ment, and the cost sheet now appears as that of

the Modern Steel Structural Company.

In this "cost sheet" are included all the cost

incurred by the Modern Steel Structural Company

(defendant in error) in performing^ the alleged

contract.

"I hand you this (referring to above cost

sheet) and ask you if that is not a copy of the

detailed cost sheet of your work for the 391/4

tons?
A. No, sir; I slwuld say not. It includes all

the work done on this contract up to a certain

date. It includes some draughting, office labor
and shop labor and freight charges not solely

relating to the 391/4 tons.

There is nothing that I see that sets out the
work but I know by our general methods of cost

keeping that the records of all the work of
every nature on the contract would go into the
office and naturally this would be the record of
this contract and all that we did up to that
date."
"Q. Is that a copy of your ledger showing

the work done, the drawing labor, the fabrica-
tion, or rather, the shop cost?
A. It seems to be.

Q. Is there any question about that being
a copy of the page from your ledger ?

A. No, there is no question.

Q. And the page of the ledger that refers to
this contract, the contract with the American-
Pacific Construction Company?
A. Yes.

Q. WTien you receive a contract you give it

a number?
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A. Yes.

Q. What is the number of the American-
Pacific contract*?

A. 561.

Q. That is a record of the work done under
that contract?

A. Yes."

(Cross-examination F. W. Harding, Tr. p.

203.)

"Q. Do you know whether or not that ledger

account was closed and M^hen it was closed ?

A. Closed, and possibl}^ shown right here. I

should sa}^ after that part of the work was per-

formed (referring to entry on exhibit 'B'). We
have not entered on that account there what
the American-Pacific Construction owes us.

Q. You mean for future profits that you
would have earned if that contract was carried

out?
A. We are carrying such an account on our

books.

Q. Wliich account includes what you esti-

mate would be your profit? That account was
closed when this litigation began by the nota-
tion on it 'in litigation'?

A. This account was closed.

Q. In so far as entries being made upon it?

A. Yes.

Q. And entries were made upon that account
up to the time this litigation began?

A. Of this nature."

(Recross examination of F. W. Harding, Tr.

p. 230.)

"Redirect Examination.

Mr. Taylor. Q. Mr. Harding, the sheet that

you have presented here presents the actual

items you have paid out as costs. Is that cor-

rect?
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A. Yes.

Q. And does not embrace the damages hy

reason of the breach of contract?

A. No, sir.

Q. There is nothing stated in that about a

breach of contract?

A. No, sir."

(Redirect examination of F. W. Harding, Tr.

p. 231.)

Hence this sheet represents the actual cost to

defendant in error of all work done by it under the

contract in question.

What was the work done under this alleged con-

tract ?

''No steel was fabricated other than the 5^1/4

tons shipped to the plaintif in error."

See cross-examination F. W. Harding (Tr.

bottom of p. 230 and p. 231).

Consequently, we seek to know the cost of the

work that did not relate solely to said 391/4 tons.

The answer is in the record: "It includes some

draughting, office and shop labor and freight charges

not solely relating to the 391/4 tons" (Tr. p. 203).

To obtain the cost of the 391/4 tons we must deduct

the other items of cost.

The "cost sheet" shows that the entire freight and

cartage included therein is $9.73 (Tr. p. 205) and

Mr. S. B. Harding, president of defendant in error,

contradicts Mr. F. W. Harding as he testified the

charge of $9.73 was for cartage on the 391/4 tons

(Tr. p. 160). However we shall accept the version
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most favorable to dofendaiit in error and omit it

from the cost of 391/4 tons. The only other work

done under the contract was the preparation of

some templates.

"Q. It is also a fact, is it not, that the only
work that you did under this contract was the
fabrication of 3914 tons of steel?

A. Yes; and the ]ireparation of some tem-
plates, etc., for the plans.

Q. Then, I understand that the entire work
that has been done by the Modern Steel Struc-
tural Company under this contract consist of

the fabrication of 391/4 tons of steel, which you
delivered to the American-Pacific Construction
Company at San Francisco, California, the
preparation of drawings for the 391/4 tons of
steel which have been delivered and for work
that you expected to do and the preparation
of templates for the work that was delivered
and for future work ?

A. Yes, and the ordering of steel,

Q. Now, is there anv cost to the ordering of
steel?

A. We do that with our office force under
the head of 'overhead expenses' " (Tr. p. 162).

The insignificance of the cost of templates is ap-

parent from the testimony of F. W. Harding (Tr.

p. 183; p. 185).

Only drawings for 256 tons of steel were prepared

(Tr. p. 237) and templates could not be made for

more tonnage than there were drawings finished (Tr.

p. 183) and the templates for the difference in ton-

nage between 256 tons and 1500 tons or 1238 tons

would cost only $32 (Tr. p. 185) and the labor would

be inconsiderable. Only 16114 tons of steel were de-

livered from the rolling mills to the works of

defendant (Tr. p. 167).
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Two facts established beyond all question are:

1st. Thirty-nine and one-quarter tons of steel for

office building were fabricated and delivered.

2nd. Drawings were finished for 256 tons and no

more.

Testimony of F. W. Harding, Tr. p. 201; p.

183; p. 206.

Testimony of W. M. Breite, Tr. p. 237.

Testimony of P. Zucco, Tr. p. 241.

This is not disputed.

On the basis of 1200 tons, this would be, according

done. In point of tonnage it was one-fifth, but in

point of drawings or drawing work it was one-

tenth.

Tr. p. 237.

to Mr. Breite, one tenth of all the drawings to be

This is likewise not disputed.

By the "cost sheet" this drawing labor (without

overhead) is shown to have cost $669.28 for one

tenth of the work. The w^hole would have cost on

that basis $6,692.80.

By the same cost sheet, the shop labor for 391/4

tons is $328.64 (without overhead), or $8.37 per ton,

which is about the price all the experts agree the

shop labor is worth.

But Mr. F. W. Harding says there was other shop

labor included in those figures. What could it have

been"?

S. B. Harding's testimony is:

• *'Q. Then, I understand that the entire work
that has been done by the Modern Steel Struc-
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tural Company under this contract consists

of the faln'ication t)f 3914 tons of steel, which
you delivered to the American-Pacific Con-
struction Company at San Francisco, Cali-

fornia, the preparation of drawings for the

3914 tons of steel which had been delivered,

and for the work that you expected to do, and
the preparation of templets for the work that

was delivered and for future work?
A. Yes. And the ordering of steel.

Q. Now, is there anv cost to the ordering
of steel?

A. We do that with our office force under
the head of overhead expenses" (Tr. p. 162).

F. W. Harding says

:

"Mr. Humphrey. Q. Did you fabricate any
work other than you shipped to us?
A. On this contract?

Q. Yes.
A. No, sir, I do not believe that we did

fabricate any other" (Tr. p. 203).

Now, if the}^ did not fabricate any but 39I/4 tons,

the other shop labor must be for the mere handling

(not for the fabrication) of the difference between

I6I14 tons and 3914 tons, or 122 tons (Tr. p. 167).

For the 122 tons the cost of handling at 13 cents

per ton (Tr. bottom page ISll) would be $15.86. De-

ducting this from $328.64, the total cost of shop

labor, we have $312.78 as the "shop cost" of the

391/4 tons, save a small deduction for some templates

that were made. This item is admittedly so small

that it is immaterial. However, we shall deduct

from our al)Ove showing of $8.37 per ton for "shop

labor cost", $0.37 as a most liberal allowance per

ton for labor in making templates.
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Based on the figures shown by this "Cost Sheet",

we are able to demonstrate the cost to defendant

in error of purchasing, fabricating and delivering

1200 tons of steel (which amount we base on the

letters of defendant in error of February 12, 1907

(Tr. pp. 224, 227), under the alleged contract:

Drawing Costs:

Breite and Zucco testified, without con-
tradiction, that the drawings attached
to the depositions on file showed only
256 tons of steel, and that this was
but one-tenth of the total drawing work
to be done. (Tr. pp. 237, 241.) On the

"Cost Sheet" figures of $669.28 for doing
this one-tenth of the drawing work, the

total drawing work would cost $ 6,692.80

Shop Cost.

The e^ddence and "Cost Sheet" show
that the entire shop cost of 391/4 tons and
the making of templates for additional

work amounted to $328.64, or $8.37 per
ton; and that the sum of $.37 cents per
ton was a most liberal allowance for the

shop cost of templates, and therefore the

shop cost per ton for all work other than
templates, on the 391/^ tons, would be

$8.00.

(Note: Both the drawing cost and shop

cost given above are figured in connec-

tion with the steel for the office portion

of the building, as distinguished from the

more expensive theater portion, the 391/4

tons referred to in the "Cost Sheet"
being material for the store portion of

the building.)
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Assuming the offiee portion of the

building to be at least 50 per cent, of the

combined theater and office building—and
all agree the office portion was less than

50 per cent, thereof—we have the follow-

ing:

Shop Labor Cost for Office Portion:

600 tons © $8.00 per ton 4,800.00

The shop labor for the theater portion

would cost at least 50 per cent more
(Snyder, Breite, Zucco and Harding),

Hence, adding 50 per cent, to the cost of

the shop labor of the office portions of

said building, we have

Shop Labor Cost for Theater Portion:

600 tons © $12.00 per ton 7,200.00

Total Shop Labor Cost 12,000.00

Total Drawing Labor Cost 6,692.80

Total Shop and Drawing Labor
Cost $18,692.80

Cost of 1200 tons of steel © $38.00

per ton (Tr. p. 165) 45,600.00

Freight on 1200 tons ® $15.00 per
ton (Tr. p. 165) 18,000.00

Totall (carried forward) $82,292.80
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Brought forward $82,292.80

But the above Drawing Cost is figured

on the basis of the drawing cost for an
office building, and it is admitted by all

and testified to by Harding, Breite,

Snyder and Galloway, that the drawing
cost for the theater portion of the com-
bined building would be at least $4.10 per
ton more than the drawing cost for the

office portion.

Therefore we must add $4.10 per ton
for at least one-half of 1200 tons, or
the sum of 2,460.00

Hence the total cost is $84,752.80

But
1200 tons © $77.00, the alleged con-

tract price= $92,400.00

Total cost of doing the work, as

shown above= 84,752.80

Leaving, on the basis of the figures of

defendant in error, without deduction for

"overhead expenses"; freedom from risk

and trouble attending full performance,
less time required, etc., (referred to in

United States v. Speed, and other cases,

supra) an apparent profit of only $ 7,642.20

And by the testimony of the president

of defendant in error the "overhead ex-

penses" properly chargeable to this risk

amounted to $ 7,171.23

Hence, without deduction for freedom
from risk, trouble, (U. S. v. Speed,

supra), etc., and only charging "over-

heads" the apparent profit, on the figures

of defendant in error, cannot exceed $ 475.97
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The above computation, covering the entire 1200

tons of steel, necessarily assumes the payment of

the 39^4: tons of steel fabricated by plaintiff, but

does not charge against the "Cost" the cost of

material for templates, of power, freedom from

risk and trouble, and time saved, and other hazards

and incidents that would naturaUy attend the per-

formance of a contract so prematurely conceived

and so haltingly undertaken as was the one here

in question. If these last-mentioned items were

considered, the apparent profit of $475.97 would

be changed into a large loss.

The figures of $7171.23 is testified to be the

monthly "overhead expenses" of defendant in

error (Tr. p. 164). It is also testified that the al-

leged contract would require at least one-third of

the plant of defendant in error for three months

or the whole of the plant for one month. Hence

the "overhead expenses" chargeable to this al-

leged contract is $7171.23.

The figures showing the loss defendant in error

would sustain in the performance of the alleged

contract are no different than it expected when

it wrote in the letters of January 25, 1907, and Jan-

uary 31, 1907, that it would be pleased if it could

"get out even" (Tr. pp. 188, 189, 196).
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III.

VARIANCE.

(a)

The complaint alleged a contract for the fabrica-

tion and delivery of an agreed amount of steel, to

wit: 1500 tons (Tr. p. 44). There was no proof

of any contract or agreement. A proposal, alleged

specifications, opinions and "guesses" oi the

amount of steel that would be required for unfin-

ished and probably unconeeived drawings were re-

ceived in evidence and all absolutely negative the

idea of any agreement on the amount of tonnage.

(b)

The allegations were that the deliveries under

the contract were to be made by September 1,

1907 (Tr. pp. 43-44).

There was no evidence offered of such a contract.

On the contrary, the only evidence showed that de-

liveries were to be made:

"Delivery: As follows: That portion in-

dicated by Mr. Smedberg shown within red lines

on blue print, 3-S, 4-S, 7-S, dated by us on the

back of print as received Dec. 31, and 8-S, dated
by us on the back of print as received January
3, 1907, required to begin the erection of steel

,
work on stores, to be shipped from our shop
thirty days from our receipt of approved work-
ing detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smedberg.
Balance of steel shipments to be 60 to 90 days
from our receipt of balance of approved work-
ing detail drawings, signed by Mr. Smedberg
from date of approval" (Tr. pp. 2-3).
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Tliis is a complete variance and sufficient to de-

feat the claim of defendant in error.

IV.

UNDEK THE TEKMS OF THIS PKOPOSAL OR ALLEGED COIV-

TRACT IT WAS NECESSARY FOR THE DEFENDAIVT IN

ERROR TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION ITS CLAIM BEFORE
INSTITUTING THIS ACTION.

The provision of the contract in this action is

as follows:

"In case any difference of opinion shall

arise between the parties to this contract, in

relation to the contract or work to be, or
that has been performed under it, such differ-

ence shall be settled by arbitration by two com-
petent persons, one employed by each party
to the contract and these two shall have
the power to name an uninterested umpire,
whose decision shall be binding on all the imv-
ties to the contract" (Tr. pp. 4, 5 and 193).

In Holmes v. Bicliet, 56 Cal. 312, the Supreme

Court of that State said:

"By the terms of the contract, authority
was given the architect to decide any dispute
that might arise respecting the true construc-
tion and meaning of the drawings or specifi-

cations and upon all such questions his deci-

sion should be final; but upon the question of
extra work, he was not authorized to decide.

On the contrary, by the express terms of the
contract, such disputes, were to he referred to

two competent persons, and if they could not
agree, the services of an umpire were to be in-

voked. Was it competent for the parties to

make such a stipulation? It has been fre-

quently decided, and now seems to be the set-

tled law, that an agreement to refer a case to

arbitration will not be regarded by the courts,
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and they will take jurisdiction and determine
a disjjute between parties notwithstanding
such an agreement. But that is not this case.

Here the parties simply agreed that the amount
or value of certain extra work should be fixed

in a certain manner, and was there any right

of action in this case for and on account of

said extra work until the value thereof was
fixed according to the terms and conditions of

the contract ? In other words, was it not a con-

dition precedent to any right of action, that

the value of the extra work should be deter-

mined in the mode provided by the contract I

This question was very elaborately considered

by the Court of Appeals of New York, in the

recent case of The President, etc. v. The Penn-
sylvania Coal Company, 50 N. Y. 250. The
Court there says: 'The distinction between
the two classes of cases is marked and well de-

fined. In one case, the parties undertake by
an independent covenant or agreement to pro-

vide for an adjustment and settlement of all

disputes and difference by arbitration, to the

exclusion of the Court; and in the other they

merely by the same agreement which creates

the liability and gives the right, qualified the

right by providing that, before any right of

action shall accrue, certain facts shall be de-

termined, or amounts and values ascertained

and this is made a condition precedent, either

in terms or by necessary implication. This

condition being lawful, the Courts have never

hesitated to give full effect to it. * * *"

DISCUSSIOTf OF "BRIEF FOR DEFENDANT IIV ERROR".

Defendant in error answers the arguments ad-

vanced for the reversal of the judgment entered in

this action by insisting that the exceptions upon



120

which the errors are predicated were not properly

assigned and that tlie charge of the court announced

correct principles of law. It argues further that

the plaintiff in error was estopped from contending

that the evidence did not show that the defendant

in error had been damaged b}" the alleged breach

(assuming for the moment the alleged contract to be

valid) because as defendant in error urges, the al-

leged unlawful act of plaintiff in error prevented

the contract and drawings from being completed

from which the exact tonnage to be fabricated could

be determined. This is indeed the announcement of

a new principle—the party breaking a contract may
not insist upon the injured party proving his dam-

age. The absurdity of this contention is quite ap-

parent. But in the case at bar it was the Richelieu

Realty Syndicate

—

not the plaintiff in error, that

refused to complete the drawings and the contract.

It was the Richelieu Realty Syndicate, not plaintif

in error, that employed and controlled the architect

and engineer to prepare the drawings. Plaintiff in

error was the unfortunate middleman and could

not carry out its proposal with defendant in error

because the Richelieii Realty Syndicate became

bankrupt and was unable to, and refused to, have

the drawings made or the building built. Its aban-

donment necessarily forced plaintiff in error to ad-

vise defendant in error to proceed no further with

the work.

We shall reply to the various contentions of de-

fendant in error in the following order:

1
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1. All errors discussed in the brief of plaintiff

in error are based upon "sufficient exceptions" and

"assignments of errors".

2. The form of taking the exceptions is the basis

of the objections of defendant in error. It does not

contend that no exceptions were taken. We insist

that even if no exceptions -were taken that the prop-

ositions advanced for the reversal of the judgment

were urged and discussed so repeatedly before and

during the trial of the action and are so substantial

and vital to the case that they became "plain errors"

which this court will consider without exceptions or

assignments of error.

3. The court's rulings and instructions on the

vital questions involved in this action, viz: existence

and validity of the alleged contract and the proof

of damages required were glaringly erroneous.

4. Plaintiff in error was not estopped from re-

quiring legal proof of the alleged damages.

I.

ALL ERRORS DISCUSSED IN THE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF IN

ERROR ARE BASED UPON SUFFICIENT EXCEPTIONS AND

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

Plaintiff in error is not urging any error of a tech-

nical nature. It bases its demand for a reversal of

the judgment on the most substantial grounds. It

contends that the alleged contract is void, but even
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if valid that there is no, and could be no, evidence of

damages, and that there was a variance between

the contract alleged and the one sought to be proved.

There is also the additional proposition that the ac-

tion is premature. All discussions revolve around

these main propositions and the errors upon which

these discussions are based were not only on "In-

structions", but upon rulings on successive demur-

rers and on the admissibility of evidence.

The question of the validity of the alleged con-

tract was raised when it was offered in evidence by

the following exceptions:

Exception No. 2, Tr. pp. 97-98-99;

Exception No. 3, Tr. pp. 103-104;

Exception No. 4, Tr. p. 105;

Exception No. 5, Tr. p. 125:

Exception No. 6, Tr. p. 128;

Exception No. 7, Tr. pp. 130-131;

Exception No. 10, Tr. pp. 231-232-233.

Refusal of the court to give instructions proposed

by plaintiff in error (Tr. pp. 281-290).

The error made by the denial of the motion for

non-suit (Tr. pp. 231-233) can be urged on appeal,

as plaintiff in error at the end of the trial requested

the court to instruct the jury to return a verdict for

the defendant (Tr. pp. 280-281).

Errors based on the failure of proof of damages

were based on proper exceptions and assignments.
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See exceptions quoted under the first proposition.

Also

Exception No. 7, Tr. pp. 130-131;

Exception No. 8, Tr. p. 177;

Exception No. 9, Tr. p. 181.

In view of the foregoing and of the further fact

that tlie requested instructions were numbered, and

were as a rule brief and confined to single proposi-

tions of law, some of which were not contained in

any form in the charge, others being clearly at vari-

ance with the charge, it is submitted that the excep-

tions in question were sufficiently specific to satisfy

the rule requiring specific exceptions.

The questions presented by exceptions to various

rulings on the admission of evidence, as we have seen,

raise all the questions discussed in this brief. De-

fendant's Exception No. 7 (Tr. pp. 130-131) had ref-

erence to the overruling of defendant's objection to

a question asked and the motion to strike from the

record all of the answer of S. B. Harding except the

word "Yes" in response to a suggestion that it

would require to complete the building "1500 tons

at least according to these specifications'?"

After answering "Yes", the witness went on tc

say:

"and my reasons for that statement would be
this: The American Pacific Construction Com-
pany, through Mr. Vigus, talked of 1400 tons;
the architect and his engineer talked of 14 or
1500 tons, as I remember it. Now the archi-

tect's plans—I am speaking now of the original
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plans from which we made our detail draw-
ings—were incomplete at the time we began
work, and Mr. Smedberg came up for the pur-
pose of completing these drawings, and in so

far as we went in examining the original draw-
ings prepared by the architect, we found a num-
ber of places where they were not up to the
ordinances, and that was the occasion of our
writing our letter of March 26, marked ' Exhibit
O' calling attention to the discrepancies, and I,

therefore, from such investigations and discrep-

ancies found, think, that the building would run
up to the 1500 ton mark, if not more, as these

increases spoken of are 20 per cent, or 25 per
cent. Of course this would not apply to all

the structure."

In view of the fact that the action was on an

express written contract, for a quantity of steel

"estimated at fifteen hundred tons", it would nat-

urally be supposed that the contract sued upon would

be examined for the purpose of determining, or af-

fording a basis for determining, the important ques-

tion of the quantity of material covered by it. In-

stead of this, however, the offered evidence was

that the plaintiff in error, "through Mr. Vigus

talked of 1400 tons; the architect and his engineer

talked of 14 or 1500 tons", etc. Even if mere oral

remarks were otherwise admissible as evidence, still

so far as the plaintiff in error is concerned, what the

architect and his engineer, representing the Riche-

lieu Realty Syndicate talked of, would of course not

be binding upon plaintiff in error and in any event

mere conversation would not indicate a final con-

clusion upon the question of quantity. But if the
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talk referred to occurred before the contract was

signed, then of course evidence of it would not be

admissible, under the well known rule merging prior

negotiations in the written contract. In this case,

the contract pointed out a definite method for de-

termining the character and quantity of the ma-

terial. Therefore, any talk, whether prior or subse-

quent to the execution of the contract, would be in-

admissible for the purpose of arriving at the matter

of quantity by any other method than the contract

method.

We do not think the language of the proposal

raises any doubt upon the proposition that both

parties understood that the matter of the character

and quantity of the material proposed to be fur-

nished was to be left open until agreed upon in the

form of working detail drawings to be prepared,

and to be approved by the consulting engineer

Smedberg.

The questions thus presented by the exception

we have been considering (Exception No. 7) brings

us, by a side path, to the main conclusion for which

plaintiff in error contended in the court below by its

objections and exceptions to the admission of evi-

dence, by its motion for a nonsuit, and by its ex-

ceptions to certain instructions requested and re-

fused and to portions of the charge to the jury.

We respectfully submit that, so far as concerns

the main purpose of the action, as disclosed by
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the pleadings and the evidence,—namel^y, the re-

coveiy of damages in the way of prospective profits

based upon a subject-matter that was never agreed

upon by the parties—a plain and grievous error in

point of law was conmiitted by the trial court,

preventing plaintiff in error from availing itself of

the application to its case, ui)0)i, the evidence, of

well established principles of law.

The form of taking the exceptions are the basis of

the objections of the defendant in error. It does not

contend that no exceptions ivere taken. We insist

that even if no exceptions ivere taken that the

propositions advanced for the reversal of the judg-

ment were urged and discussed so repeatedly before

and during the trial of the action and are so sub-

stantial and vital to the case that they become

"plain errors" which this court will consider ivith-

out exceptions or assignments of error.

"Plain errors" not assigned or specified may be

noticed by this court.

See:

Rule 24 of Rules of the United States Circuit

Court of Appeals.

As a general rule, exceptions to the whole of

the charge of a court, or to its refusals to instruct,

will not be considered by an appellate tribunal,

still, having in view the reasons upon which the
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rule is based and the maimer and circumstances in

which the exceptions here in question were taken and

the character of the exceptions, we submit that the

rule is not applicable here.

In Price v. PankJturst, 53 Fed. 312, a case in

which the reasons for the rule are adverted to at

some length, it was said that among the purposes

sought to be subserved by it are that the court may

have an ojiportunity to correct or explain the parts

of the charge excepted to, if it seems proper to do

,so, and that an opportunity may be afforded for ex-

planations and qualifications that might otherwise

be overlooked.

Where, however, as in the case at bar, the main

contentions of a party are simple in their nature,

are repeatedly indicated during the trial by objec-

tions and exceptions to the admission or rejection

of evidence, by a motion for a nonsuit, and, either

expressly or by clear intendment, in requested in-

structions, separately numbered, and where the

rulings upon evidence and upon requested instruc-

tions, as well as the charge of the court, are mani-

festly inconsistent with such main contentions, and

evince a clear, consistent purpose to negative or

run counter to them—we contend that, the reason

for the rule ceasing, the rule itself may not be

invoked. The grounds for this contention we now
proceed to discuss:

The legal questions raised by the exceptions taken

by plaintiff in error during the trial are substantially

embodied in the four main propositions urged in the
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previous divisions of this brief. The various ex-

ceptions whicli involve and raise the main propo-

sitions referred to are covered by the assignments

of error.

The first or principal one of these propositions

is, in substance, that the proposal of defendant

in error and its alleged acceptance by plaintiff in

error did not constitute a contract, because the

drawings, a material part of the contract, were

never completed, and it contained a false reference,

referring to specifications identified by certain

marks and no such specifications are in evi-

dence. This contention was expressly presented

to the attention of the trial court, in various fonns,

at repeated intervals during the trial; first, by de-

murrers, then by objections and exceptions to the in-

troduction of evidence which showed an inchoate

and incomplete contract; later by a motion for a

non-suit, and again by instructions requested by

plaintiff in error and refused by the court, par-

ticularly requested instruction of plaintiff in error

numbered 1, in which it was sought to have the

jury instructed

"as a matter of law, that as the drawings
which were a material part of the contract
were never completed, the contract was void
and therefore the verdict must be for de-
fendant."

It was also in substance reaffirmed by defend-

ant's requested instructions numbered II and XIV
(Tr. pp. 256, 260).
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The second maiu contention was to tlie effect

that, even assuming there was a valid contract,

there was no proof of damage. The grounds of

this contention, which is also obviously based on

the incompleteness of the drawings and specifica-

tions were clearly brought to the attention of the

trial court by the various exceptions presenting

the first contention, as well as by defendants re-

quested instruction II (Tr. p. 256).

The third main contention, to the effect that there

was a variance, in certain specified particulars,

between the contract alleged and the one sought to

be proved, hinges on the first contention, and is

clearly expressed and involved in the motion for

a non-suit made by plaintiff in error (Tr. pp. 231-

233) and in its requested instruction numbered II

(Tr. p. 256).

The fourth main contention, to the effect that,

even if the contract were valid, the action is pre-

mature, because defendant in error has never arbi-

trated the dispute involved in this action, as re-

quired by the arbitration clause in the contract

alleged, which is a condition precedent to the right

of action,—was presented by the motion for a

non-suit.

The trial court was therefore fully advised as

to the propositions of law which defendant urged

and desired to have impressed upon the jury by the
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instructions requested, but, having made up his

m,ind as to the law of the case, did not care to

have the objections of defendant elaborated.

This we think is clearly indicated in the opening

paragraph of the court's charge, in which the court

said:

"Ordinarily, I would not submit the case to

you at his hour, but we are rather short of
jurors on the panel, and I may need your
services in another case in the morning. It

strikes me that this case is a very simple one,
not only, in its facts hut in regard to the law,

and I have an idea that you will he ahle to

reach a verdict u'ithout difficidty and witliout

remaining out over night, or any considerahle
period into the night. My hesitation about
submitting a case to the jury late in the day
is that possibl}^ they might get tied up and
have to stay out all night. I know that is very
unpleasant, but I do not apprehend any such
result will follow in this case, so I will submit
the case to you now" (Tr. p. 262).

And from the colloquy between the court and

counsel for plaintiff in error, before the charge,

it will be observed that while the language of

the court suggested merely a doubt whether the

method of excepting pursued by counsel was

specific enough, it was apparent that the court knew

the legal objections to the charge and no desire

was expressed by the court for more specific excep-

tions to the refusals to instruct and to the charge

of the court. For after expressing this doubt the

jurors were in the same breath told by the court

that they might retire (Tr. p. 268).
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In this connection we quote from the opinion in

Price V. Pankhurst, 53 Fed. 312, the following lan-

guage of Circuit Judge Caldwell:

"It is of course the duty of the court to

allow the parties reasonable time and facili-

ties for specifying exceptions. There is no
occasion for haste in charging a jury. No
part of the trial should be conducted more de-

liberately and carefully, and no court will re-

fuse a party time and opportunity to point out

distinctly his exceptions to the charge before

the case is given to the jury. He must be
afforded opportunity to do this then, because
he is precluded from doing it afterwards."

We do not wish to be understood as intimating

that the trial court, by its anxiety for an early

decision, prevented counsel from pointing out, more

formally and specifically, the portions of the court's

charge to which exception was taken. But we de-

sire to suggest that in view of all the circumstances

above stated counsel for plaintiff in error believed

and had reason to believe that the court did not

desire to hear further from him on the subject.

As shown above, the second and third main con-

tentions grow out of or are dependent upon the

first main contention; for if the alleged contract

was incomplete in the important and vital element

of identified specifications and of drawings show-

ing the character and quantity of steel to be fabri-

cated and delivered, then there was not and could

not be any proof of damage, as regards steel not
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shown by drawings or specifications and hence not

contracted foi'; and if the partial, incomplete draw-

ings made in connection with the proposal showed

a tonnage of very much less than the estimated

amount of 1500 tons alleged by plaintiff to have

been contracted for, and a different and uncertain

time of performance than the contract alleged, then

there was a manifest variance between the con-

tract alleged and the one sought to be proved.

Therefore, in the light of the evidence, excep-

tions and rulings during the trial, the motion for a

non-suit, and the instructions requested and re-

fused, all of them obviously involving, in one way or

another, the basic contention of law that the alleged

contract shown in evidence was void,—a contention

expressly negatived by the opening portion of the

court's charge,—it is submitted that no useful pur-

pose would have been served b}^ exceptions more

specific than those taken by plaintiff in error.

In Central Trust Company v. Continental Trust

Company, (C. C. A.) 86 Fed. 517, it is said

(p. 523) :

"It is further objected that the specification

of errors is too general and indefinite. The
object of the nile in requiring the errors relied

upon to be separately and particularly asserted
is to enable the court to understand what
questions it is called upon to decide, so it

may not have to go beyond the assignment of

errors itself to discover the blot, and also that

the exceptor may be confined to the objections

actually taken below. Van Gunden v. Iron
Co., 3 C. C. A. 294, 52 Fed. 840. WTiere various
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errors are relied on, presentiug different pro-
positions, they should be separately and dis-

tinctly set forth; hut tvhere the errors com-
plained of present a single proposition of law,

common to all of them, there can he no rea,-

sonahle ohjection to assigning error to the
group, as teas done in this case. Andrews v.

Pipe Works, 22 C. C. A. 110, 76 Fed. 170,

171. The errors complained of in this as-

signment go solely to the action of the circuit

court in overruling the exceptions to the com-
plainant's answer, and to the final decree,

whereby the court ruled that the unpaid inter-

est which represented the rental of the tunnel

track should be a lien upon the mortgaged
property, to be paid in preference to the mort-
gage debts. In view of the fact that the court

sustained all of the exceptions made to the

answer, and the principle of law arising thereon
is common to each portion of the answer ruled

out, and to the decree as above stated, involv-

ing, in effect, but one question, the assignment
of errors is reasonably specific."

But in any event we submit that the action of the

trial court, as shown by the transcript of record in

giving (in its rulings, instructions and refusals to

instruct), legal effect as a valid, completed contract

to an instrument manifestly inchoate and incom-

plete,—was of such a nature as to constitute a

"plain error" within the meaning of the well-known

rule of this court and of the United States Supreme

Court, which permits the court, at its option, to

notice a "plain error", not assigned or specified.

And this plain error is the basis for three out of the

four main contentions of our opening brief.
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In Columhia Heights Realty Co. v. Rudolph, 217

U. S. 547, after referring to the statutory and other

provisions governing federal courts, which require

particularity in the specification of errors, the opin-

ion proceeds to say:

"This court has, however, not regarded itself

as under any absolute obligation to dismiss a
writ of error or appeal because of the non-
assignment of errors as required (by) Sees. 997
and lOl'i, Rev. Stat., having, by its rules, re-

served the option to notice a plain error wheth-
er assigned or not. AcMey School District v.

Hall, 106 U. S. 428; Farrar v. Churchill, 135
U. S. 609, 614; United States v. Pena, 175 U. S.

502."

In Weems v. United States, 217 U. S. 349, the Su-

preme Court said (p. 362) :

"It is achnitted, as we have seen, that the

questions presented by the third and fourth as-

signments of error were not made in the court
below, but a consideration of them is invoked
under rule 35, which provides that this court,

'at its option, may notice a plain error not as-

signed.'

"It is objected on the other side that Paraiso
V. United States, 207 U. S. 368, stands in the
way. But the rule is not altogether controlled

by precedent. It confers a discretion that may
be exercised at any time, no matter what may
have been done at some other time. It is true
we declined to exercise it in Paraiso v. United
States, but we exercised it in Wiborg v. United
States, 163 U. S. 632, 658; Clyatt v. United
States, 197 U. S. 207, 221, and Crawford v.

United States, 212 U. S. 183. * * *"

In the case at bar the "plain error" committed by

the trial court in its rulings on evidence, its refusals
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to instruct and its charge to the jury is clearly ap-

parent on the face of the record. Upon the vital

point as to the existence and scope of the contract

the court charged the jury that the evidence showed

''icithout any conflict whatsoever, that the contract

was duly executed hettveen the parties as alleged''

(Tr. p. 263). The second amended complaint al-

leged that the quantity of structural steel and iron

required for the Columbia Theatre Building ''was

estimated at 1500 tons, and that by said contract

plaintiff agreed to deliver all such material to de-

fendant before September 1, 1907."

The court's announcement was therefore tanta-

mount to an instruction that the parties had duly

executed a contract calling for a quantity of steel

estimated at 1500 tons. This statement however is

absolutely without support in the evidence. As else-

where shown, the proposal of plaintiff, introduced

in evidence, proposed to furnish all the structural

steel required for a building to be constructed in

accordance with drawings and identified specifica-

tions to be furnished by Joseph D. Smedberg, which

drawings were never made and the identified speci-

fications are not in evidence. NotMng whatever tvas

said in said proposal ahoiit 1500 tons or any other

numher of tons. The specifications in evidence were

not the ''identified specifications" and pointed to

the drawings for inforaiation on the subject, recit-

ing that they were "intended to cover all the struc-

tural iron work for frame and reinforced concrete

in said building" and were "intended to co-operate
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with the drawings for the same, both those fur-

nished by the architect, and those furnished by the

engineer, as hereinafter specified" (Tr. p. 108),

The uncertain and indefinite nature of a contract

faihng either to specify the amount of material re-

quired or to give any reference to existing drawings,

specifications or other data by which the uncertainty

coukl be changed to certainty, was recognized by the

letter written by S. B. Harding on belialf of defend-

ant in error, to plaintiff in error, dated December

27, 1906, in which it is said:

"You understand that we will have to make
detail drawings and have them approved be-

fore we can make any start. * * *

Most of the difficulties in connection with all

construction work of this nature is to get the

matter of the drawings thoroughh^ understood
and definitelv outlined. We then have a start-

ing point" (Tr. p. 86-87).

In the letter from defendant in error, by S. B.

Harding, its president, dated February 12, 1907 (Tr.

p. 224) , it is said

:

"This job of about 1200 tons is going to drag
for months at this rate, and we will have to put
other work in its place if we do not get a com-
plete starting point."

And defendant's Exhibit "G", being a portion of

letter dated February 12, 1907, Modern Steel Struc-

tural Co. to American Pacific Construction Co.,

reads as follows:

"This theater job, we estimate from the

plans, to weigh about 1200 tons, and it is only
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a small matter to produce sucli a building, if

we could have a starting point" (Tr. p. 227).

And, as will appear from the evidence, in April,

1907, when defendant notified plaintiff to stop all

work on the Columbia Theatre job, and that the

same would not be finished with structural steel, the

parties were very little nearer the "starting point"

than they were when the above letters were w^ritten

(see testimony of S. B. Harding, Tr. pp. 162, 167;

testimony of W. M. Breite, Tr. pp. 234, 237 ; testi-

mony of Peter Zucco, Tr. p. 241).

Because of the above facts, therefore, there was

no evidence to support the legal conclusion an-

nounced by the trial court to the jury, that ''the

contract was duly executed between the parties as

alleged."

In view of the allegations of the complaint and

the evidence introduced over the objection and ex-

ception of defendant, the court's instruction could

only lead the jury to believe that the amount of steel

agreed upon by the parties was 1500 tons, the

amount based on the allegations of the complaint

and the ''guesses" of defendant in error and its em-

ployees, without any reference whatever to the

drawings which the proposal provided should show

the material to be furnished. This belief of the jury's

would naturally color all of the jury's estimate of

damages, the only question which, the charge stated,
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was before them for determination. Tliis erroneous

cliarge of the court's, aside from the error commit-

ted in failing to give instructions requested by de-

fendant covering elements which, under the authori-

ties shown in another part of this brief, should have

been considered by the jury, was alone of such a

controlling nature as necessarily to dominate the

deliberations of the jury and vitiate any verdict

it might render under the influence of the charge.

We therefore submit that even if the exceptions

and specifications of error were not sufficient—and

we believe we have shown that such is not the case

—

this court nevertheless should, in view of the "plain

error" rule, consider the errors assigned.

TJie court's rulings and instructions on the vital

questions involved in this action, viz.: the ex-

istance and validity of the alleged contract and

the proof of damages required, were glaringly

erroneous.

It is contended by defendant in error that the

charge of the trial court as to the measure of dam-

ages was correct. It is also urged, in substance, that

as the evidence showed without contradiction the ex-

istence of the contract between plaintiff in error

and defendant in error, as pleaded and a breach

thereof by plaintiff in error, it was proper for the

court to assume the existence of such contract

and its breach, as alleged, and to charge the jury

to that effect.
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We, submit that the latter of these contentions

is fully answered by the argmxient and authorities,

in the preceding pages, to the effect that, as the

evidence showed that no completed contract was

ever entered into between the parties, it was im-

proper for the trial court to charge the jury ^'tliat

the contract ivas duly executed hetiveen the parties

as alleged."

The contention that the charge of the trial court

was correct is not supported by authorities involv-

ing elements of facts similar to those shown in the

case at ba"r. The authorities cited in this brief

demonstrate that the charge of the court, as ap-

plied to the evidence in this case, was insufficient,

inadequate and incorrect, because of the omission

from the charge of several important elements,

necessary to be presented to the jury, and which

were covered by the requested instructions.

It is now projjosed to show that this insufficiency

and inadequacy, either alone or in connection with

the charge that the contract was duly executed

as alleged by plaintiff, was of such a nature as to

render it impossible for the jury to reach a determi-

nation, as to the amount of damages, that would

have for its support a legal basis, or any basis other

than guesswork.

In the portion of the charge which is quoted on

page 34 of the brief for defendant in error, the

court told the jury that the measure of damages

was
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"the difference between the agi'eed price per
ton for the quantity of structural steel which
you may find from the evidence would have
been required to complete the contemplated
building in its entirety as jjrovided in the con-

tract, less what you may find it would have cost

the plaintiff to have completed the fabrication

and delivery of such entire quantity of steel;

in other words, the plaintiff is entitled to the

agreed price per ton of the entire quantity of

material covered by the contract to be fur-

nished by it, less what it would have cost to

deliver it free on board cars in San Francisco,
with interest and so forth".

No specific instruction was, however, given by the

court as to the various elements of cost, or the

offsets and allowances against estimated profits,

which the jury should take into consideration in

determining the amount of damages under the

evidence in the case. The only instruction which the

court gave to the jury upon these topics is covered

by the following portions of the charge:

"The evidence on behalf of plaintiff should
be such as to enable the jury to determine with
reasonable certainty, first, what the probable
expense or cost would have been to the plaintiff

to have performed the contract in its entirety,

this to be determined from the different ele-

ments of cost involved in the work as dis-

closed in the testimony ; and secondly, the prob-
able gross quantity of steel, in tons, it would
have required to complete the building. There-
upon, by taking the total cost to plaintiff of
fabricating and delivering the material, and
deducting it from the gross sum produced by
multiplying the number of tons of steel you
find it would have taken to complete the build-
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ing by the price per ton fixed in tlie contract,

that is, $77, the difference or result will be the

profit which plaintiff would have made on

the contract, and which would represent the

damages which, vmder the law, it would be

entitled to recover (Tr.- pp. 265-6, Assign-

ment 30),

"In figuring the cost to plaintiff of fabricat-

ing the steel in question, the fixed and regular

monthly salaries paid by plaintiff to its per-

manent officers and heads of departments, with-

out regard to this particular work, should not

he taken into account unless you find that such

item of general expense in plaintiff's business

would have been increased by reason of plain-

tiff having to carry out the entire contract but
the jury should include in the items of cost

such amount as they find would be a proper
allowance for wear and tear on the machinery
in plaintiff's plant had the entire work con-

templated by the contract been done at such
plant (Tr. p. 266, Assignment 31).

"The evidence should be such as to enable
you to determine the different elements which
I have referred to as entering into the ques-
tion of damages, with reasonable certainty;

mathematical certainty is not required, but
such degree of certainty as will enable the jury
to reach approximately just results."

The above instructions as to the measure of

damages would have been sufficient, perhaps, as

applied to a case involving elements less complex

and uncertain than those shown in this case for

instance, as applied to a case where the contract in

question would be to furnish a definite, specified

quantity or number of a commodity or finished

article, either carried in stock or easily obtainable
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on the market, and the furnishing of which would

not be affected by contracts with other parties.

Such, however, was not the situation in the case

at bar.

The evidence in this case involved elements of

actual and probable cost which, under the authori-

ties had an important bearing upon the determina-

tion of the amount of damages, and should have

been taken into account by the jury in arriving

at its verdict. The trial court, however, failed

and refused to allow or give proper instructions

covering these elements.

Among the matters so withheld from the con-

sideration of the jury was that of deduction from

the amount of estimated damages, on account of

plaintiff's release by the stoppage of work from

the burdens and responsibilities and chances of

diminished profits, or of absence of profit, that

would have attended the completion of jDerformance

of the alleged contract.

The alleged contract provided that delivery of

the steel was to be made within a specified time

after the receipt of the drawings which have been

referred to, and contemplated that the steel was
to be fabricated, not as a single, continuous opera-

tion, but from time to time, upon the completion

of the various drawings, which were to be prepared

by one J. D. Smedberg, representing the archi-

tect and also the Richelieu Realty Syndicate, with

which plaintiff in error had contracted to con-

struct the Columbia Theater building. Because of
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various reasons for which plaintiff in error was

not responsible, the preparation of the drawings

went along very slowly. In a letter from S. B.

Harding, president of defendant in error, to

Thomas Vigus, general manager of plaintiff in

error, dated February 12, 1907, (Defendant's Ex-

hibit E, Tr. p. 223), about three weeks after the

alleged execution of the contract in question, the

writer stated that Mr. Smedberg had "approved

three detail drawings thus far and we judge that

there will be from 75 to 80 drawings on the build-

ing". And further on in that letter it is said:

"This job of about 1200 tons is going to

drag for months at this rate, and we will have
to put other work in its place if we do not
get a complete starting point at once."

It further appears from the evidence without

contradiction (Tr. pp. 234, 167) that all of the

drawings completed in April, 1907, when the order

was given to stop work on the steel for the Colum-

bia Theatre job, did not cover more than 256 tons.

It was also shown that the plaintiff had fabricated

only 391/4 tons of steel when, on April 8, 1907,

it received the order to stop, it having begun the

fabrication of steel under the alleged contract, in

January, 1907. In this connection Samuel B. Hard-

ing, president of plaintiff company, further tes-

tified :

"Between the dates the plaintiff began fabri-

cating steel for this contract and the date it

stopped, it had a few other small orders mixed
in with it. We had other work. These orders
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filled about a quarter or a third of our capacity.
* * * To fulfill the contract set out in

plaintiff's complaint, one-third of the works
of the Modern Steel Structural Company would
be required for from sixty to ninety days
after April 1, 1907, the plaintiff received and
carried out contracts. * * * ^y^ ^[^ j^q^

work after April, 1907, the day on which I

received the telegram to stop * * * (Tr. pp.
157, 162).

"The further execution of this contract, after

the delivery of the 391/4 tons, would require

one-third of the capacity of plaintiff's plant

and one-third of the office force, as well as

the attention of the superintendents of the

various departments, the general managers, and
the executive officers of this company, for a
period of from sixty to ninetv davs" (Tr. p.

165).

If the progress made with the drawings at the

time the work was stopped, as shown by the

evidence above, is taken as a basis for an estimate

as to time of completion, plaintiff's guess of from

sixty to ninety days was far too small. The evi-

dence showed that, under the conditions existing

as regards the preparation of the drawings—con-

ditions for which plaintiff in error was not re-

sponsible or chargeable, and which the defendant

in error had knowingly accepted—the completion

of the drawings might have been delayed for a

much longer period than that estimated by Mr.

Harding.

By the stoppage of all work under the alleged

contract the defendant in error was thereupon freed

from all of the delay, risk, annoyance and uncer-
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taiiity which would have been incident to comple-

tion of the job under conditions such as those com-

plained of in plaintiff's letter to defendant of

February 12, 1907 (Tr. pp. 222-224), and in the

plaintiff's letters of January 25th and 31st (Tr. pp.

188-189, 196) and such as would attend the per-

formance of a contract extending over a consider-

able portion of time. The profits, if any, arising

from a delayed and protracted performance would

obviously be much less than those which would be

derived from prompt and continuous performance.

In view of the foregoing evidence, and of other

similar facts shown by the record, we submit that

the element of time saved to plaintiff by its release

from further performance was a very substantial

one, and should have been covered by the court's

charge to the jury. This element was covered by

the requested instructions of plaintiff in error

numbered VI, VII and IX (Tr. pp. 258-259; As-

sigmnents of Error Nos. XVI, XVII and XIX)

;

but the court refused to give the same, and did not

cover the subject at all in the charge to the jury.

That the element referred to is a substantial

one which should be taken into consideration by a

jury in estimating damages in a case of this kind,

is established by decisions of the highest authority.

See

TJ. 8. V. Speed (supra)

;

Hinckley v. Pittsburg Bessemer Steel Co.,

121 U. S. 264,

and authorities cited in earlier portion of this brief.
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The charge of the court was incorrect and in-

adequate in the further particular that the jury were

not properly instructed as to the caution to be

observed in estimating the amount of damages

where the tangible facts offered as a basis for ar-

riving at such amount were so incomplete and un-

certain. Because of the unfinished condition of

the drawings and the delay and uncertainty that

were attending the completion of the alleged con-

tract, there was a marked absence, in this case, of

the kind of facts and data which the authorities

regard as necessary in the ascertainment of legal

damages. The situation shown at the close of the

evidence was one calling urgently for cautionary

instructions as to the necessity for satisfactory

evidence of the various elements affecting cost, and

for the avoidance of speculation or surmise in de-

termining the question of damages. By defendant's

requested instructions numbered II, III and IV
(Assigmnents of Error Nos. XII, XIII and XIV;
Tr. pp. 256-258; 281-282) defendant sought to have

the jury instructed as to these matters, but the re-

quested instructions were refused, and no adequate

instruction of a similar nature was given by the

court. That instructions of this kind, as aj^plied

to facts similar to those shown in the present

case, are proper and necessary, is well established

by the authorities:

On this subject, see the language of the court in

the leading case of Masterton v. Mayor, 7 Hill, 61;



147

42 American Decisions, 38, at page 45, and the

other authorities heretofore discussed.

In view of the evidence shown in this case, an-

other serious omission in the charge to the jury

was the trial court's faihire to give instruction

numbered X (Tr. p. 259) ; Assignment of Error

No. XX, Tr. p. 285), or to give any instruction of

a similar nature. By the requested instruction the

jury were told, in substance, that if they should

find there was a contract, it was nevertheless the

duty of defendant in error not to allow its plant to

remain idle, but to use every reasonable effort to

procure other work and if it did procure other

work to take the place of the work mentioned in

said contract, during the time it would be em-

ployed in the performance of this contract, the jury

should deduct the amount of profits made by it on

such other work from any sum the jury might

find defendant in error was entitled to under the

facts of the case.

As shown by the evidence previously quoted, the

capacity of the plant in 1907 was 80 tons per day.

S. B. Harding testified that, to fulfill the alleged

contract one-third of the plant would be required

for from sixty to ninety days after April 1, 1907

(Tr. p. 157 et seq.). This testimony was of course

on the assumption that the drawings were com-

pleted ; but as we have previously shown, at the rate

of progress made up to April 1st, it would have
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taken some months to finish the drawings alone.

In view of the e\ddeuee referred to, showing the

limited capacity of the plant, and that the job was

going to be a long-drawn-out one, it is apparent

that the work would have been performed but a

little at a time, and, consequently, that the defend-

ant in error could in all probability, within the

period likely to be required for full performance,

have obtained other work to replace all or a large

part of the work that would have been performed

under the alleged contract had it not been breached.

That the court's omission to give the instruction

referred to, or a similar one, was an error, is sup-

ported by the following, among other authorities:

In Page on Contracts, Section 1583, it is said:

"It is the duty of the party not in default

to use such means as a i-easonable and pru-
dent man would use to mitigate damages. On
the one hand the part}^ not in default cannot
recover for damages which follow a breach,

but which might have been prevented by such
means. * * *"

See also,

RoeJim V. Horst, 178 U. S. 1, at pp. 11, 15,

20, 21;

Sedgwick on Damages, (9th edition), Sec-

tion 201.

In the opening portion of this brief assuming

for the purposes of the argument the existence of

the alleged contract, and taking as a basis the

figures of actual cost, shown on T)lainti£f's cost
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sheet of the 391/4 tons of material delivered at the

time work was stopped, we showed that the profit

derived from the alleged contract, on a 1200-ton

basis (being the basis mentioned in several of plain-

tiff's letters (Tr. pp. 224, 227) would not have ex-

ceeded $475.97 if ''overhead expenses'^ were charge;

able to costs. This on the figures and testimony, of

defendant in error. And after making deductions

for depreciation, cost of materials, drawing, tem-

plates, power, allowance for exemption from risk

and trouble attendant upon full performance of

a long-drawn-out contract the apparent profit

would be swept away and would become a heavy

loss.

In the brief for defendant in error (Tr. pp. 75-

78) these figures and results are criticized and are

amended so as to show that a much larger profit

would have been obtained by plaintiff, on the basis

of the figures in the cost sheet. This result is ob-

tained by defendant in error (1) by changing the

relative tonnage of the theatre portion and the

office portion, (2) by assuming a larger proportion

of drawings completed at the time work was stop-

ped, and (3) by eliminating, m a supposed dupli-

cate estimate, the figure of $4.10' per ton mentioned

in our figures as the cost of drawing labor for the

theatre portion.

We shall discuss these criticisms in their order:

1. As to relative tonnage of office portion and

theatre portion.
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In the brief for defendant in error it is con-

tended that our statement that fifty per cent in

weight of the building belongs to the theatre por-

tion is a serious error; and the testimony of F. W.

Harding is quoted to the effect that from 30 to

50 per cent of the building, according to the open

space on the plans, would be occupied by the theatre,

and that the tonnage of the theatre portion would

not exceed 20 per cent of the whole work in the

building ; and that, on the basis of a 1200-ton build-

ing the steel tonnage would be, for the office portion

950 tons and for the other portion 240 tons.

From the testimony of F. W. Harding it is very

doubtful whether he had the technical training or

experience necessary to qualify him to give a de-

pendable estimate of tonnage. At all events he had

not been accustomed to making such estimates;

and his testimony clearly indicates that his sup-

posed estimates of tonnage in this case were really

not estimates but guesses of the vaguest character.

The witness testified that he was vice-president

of plaintiff company, which office he had held "for

the past three months"; prior to which time he

was treasurer for five years, having been elected

to that office in 1907, when he was directing man-

ager and one of the directors. He further said

:

"I have done a great deal in behalf of my
company in taking contracts, although it never
became part of my duty to rememl)er quanti-
ties, but I was required to place valuations on
work. The estimating of quantities would be

done by our clerical force" (Tr, p. 182).
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But aside from the question of the witness's

ability to estimate quantities, it appeared from liis

own testimony that liis estimate of the quantity

of material required for the theatre portion or for

any portion of the building in question had no

tangible basis to support it. Thus, in reference

to his estimate of tonnage for the completed build-

ing, he said:

"I could not take the quantities to determine
that. I had to take the cubic foot rule, be-

cause the general drawings were not completed
for the entire building. The building was a
combination of both office and theatre build-

ing. * * * There were some store buildings

in the bottom or in the first story, and then
came the theatre portion of which there was
quite a lot of open space where the theatre

portion was, and above that, and I think partly

on the sides, was more or less office construc-

tion. That is in a general way, as I remem-
ber it" (Tr. p. 201).
"The papers that are annexed to the deposi-

tion of S. B. Harding are all of the detail draw-
ings and are all of the drawings that were pre-

pared by the plaintiff, and the 31 and 28 sheets

of drawings that have been offered in evidence,

and which were annexed to the deposition of

S. B. Harding, are only for the first part, that

is, the stores and first and second story columns
and some of the connecting beams. They more
or less refer to the office building proper and
none of the truss work for the theater proper
had been done (Tr. pp. 201-2).

And at page 227 the witness further testified

:

"In a general way we knew that it was to be

a steel frame structure of so many cubic feet,

and taking the cubic-feet rule we arrived at the

tonnage. '

'
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That the so-called cubic-feet rule affords no valid

basis for the estimatiou of quantities in a case of

this kind, the only accepted basis for such estimates

being the detail drawings, seems to us an obvious

proposition. At all events, this is clearly shown by

the testimony of the witnesses for defendant, struc-

tural engineers who were thoroughly familiar with

the design and construction of theater and office

buildings, and who were not parties to or

interested in the result of the action. The

testimony of these witnesses was not disputed

and was based upon a careful examination of

all of the drawings and other exhibits attached to

the deposition of S. B. Harding. All of these wit-

nesses testified, in substance, that there were no

drawings or designs from which it was possible to

determine the tonnage that would go into the build-

ing in question. C. H. Snyder, a contracting engi-

neer of 12 years' experience, who had formerly been

a structural steel draftsman, and who had in the

last 12 years estimated the quantities and given

prices and quotations for the work on 60 or 70

buildings, among them several theaters, testified

(Tr. p. 246) that the theater portion would occupy

more than half of the ground space and up to the

sixth story of an eight story building.

John D. Galloway, a civil engineer,—that term in-

cluding, according to his statement, structural engi-

neer,—testified that he had been in the business for

23 years, and had designed the steel work for several
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buildings and prepared the detail drawings for the

steel work. He further testified:

**The r)lans are incomplete, but, assuming the

information to be correct that this portion was
to be occujoicd by a theater, so far as the cubical

contents were concerned, the theater would have
occupied considerable more than one-half of

the building. In addition to the portion which
is bounded by the curved line that I speak of,

I would say that the curved line would indicate

that this is the portion formed by the galleries

of a theater, and it is necessary to have, back
of those galleries, there is aisles and foyers

and places which are taken up by the exits.

With those ideas, I would say that the space
shown would be taken up in this way, and that

that part to be occupied by the theater would
have been considerably more than fifty per cent.

I should judge, without any actual measure-
ment, that at least 75% of it would have been
the theater portion" (Tr. pp. 247-249).

From the foregoing testimony we submit that

the assumption of defendant in error that the ton-

nage of the theater portion was only 240 tons had

no foundation on which to rest.

2. As to the portion of the drawings that were

prepared when work was stopped, and the estimated

cost of completing the remaining portion.

The assertion of defendant in error that "the

expense of the drawing work for the office portion

of the building had practically all been taken care

of" is not supported by the testimony. The testi-

mony of W. M. Breite, for 20 years a structural en-
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gineer and who had designed steel work for a large

number of theater and other buildings, was that the

completed drawings attached to the deposition of S.

B. Harding, included in all 256 tons, and "only

covered the office portion of the proposed building."

The assertion in the brief for defendant in error

that "owing to the fact that in an office building

the structural work of each floor is practically the

same, most of the detail drawings which were got-

ten out for the first floor would serve equally well

for the others above, with the possible exception of

the 8th floor", is based upon an assumption that is

not supported by the evidence, either as a general

proposition or as applied to this particular case,

While Mr, F. W. Harding claimed in his testimony

(Tr. p. 254) that there was "considerable duplica-

tion" it is to be remembered that he also testified

(Tr. p. 225) that

"until we have that design (from the archi-
tect) we don't know what the members are go-
ing to consist of absolutely. If we were engi-
neers we could, otherwise we cannot use our
own judgment in a matter of that kind. We
have to wait for the architect".

No structural engineer testified for defendant in

error on this point, and therefore in support of the

intimation that by reason of the completed draw-

ings the cost of the remaining drawings would be

decreased because of duplication, we have only the

vague assertion of an officer of defendant in error,

confessedly not qualified to speak upon this sub-
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ject. As against this, we have the testimony of

Breite, Zucco, Galloway and Snyder, structural en-

gineers with long experience, to the effect that about

1070 of the detail drawings for the work had been

completed.

We therefore insist that the estimate in our open-

ing brief of $6692.80 as the cost of drawing work

is supported by the evidence and is correct.

3. As to the figure of $4.10 per ton for drawing

labor of theatre portion (hrief of plaintiff in error,

p. 94).

In the brief for defendant in error it is said (p.

77):

"Counsel's claim for generous treatment in

his analysis, in that he is only charging $4.10

per ton for the detailed drawings of the theater

portion, when F. W. Harding had stated it

might be $5.00, becomes more apparent than
real when we find him adding per ton in this

statement, $4.10 to $6.00 and over, which had
already therein been charged in the figures

$6,692.80 as the drawing cost; making nearly

$10.00 per ton for the theater drawing details,

a figure largely in excess of that named by
defendant's most enthusiastic witness."

On the theory that our figures based on the "cost

sheet" duplicated the sum of $4.10 in the drawing

costs this sum is omitted in the figures made by de-

fendant in error.

Counsel have erred grievously. They misunder-

stand our figures. Our estimate of the drawing costs

fixed $6692.80 as the total drawing cost for an ordi-
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nary store and office building containing twelve hun-

dred tons of steel. But the building in question was

a combined office and theatre building of which the

"theatre" constituted at least one half. And the

evidence shows that the drawing work for a theater

is more difficult, and the drawing costs for such

work are at least $4.10 per ton more than for the

other class of work . (Testimony W. W. Breite,

Tr. pp. 236-237; J. Galloway, Tr. pp. 248-249; C.

Snyder, Tr. p. 242.)

4.

Plaintiff in error was not estopped from requir-

ing legal proof of the alleged damage or from

urging the invalidity of the contract.

It is indeed novel to contend that in an action for

breach of contract the party in default may not re-

quire legal proof of the alleged damage to the com-

plaining party. It is so unique that there is no au-

thority to support tliis contention. Its absurdity

is api^arent from its mere statement and would not

be noticed had not defendant even cited in its sup-

port the case of

Seymour v. Odrichs, 156 Cal. 782.

An examination of the case cited will show that

it is not applicable to the case at bar. In that case,

a husband duly authorized to bind his wife and

her sister by a contract employing an overseer of

the wife's and sister's real estate, agreed to employ
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the plaintiff, SejTuour, for ten years at a specified

monthly salary, and thereby induced Seymour to

surrender a life position in the San Francisco Police

Department and to enter on his duties as overseer.

Seymour would not have left the life position unless

he had been assured of a permanent position, and

the husband knew that fact. Every one of the terms

of the agreement between himself and Seymour had

been defined and understood by them, orally. Under

these circumstances, the court held that the wife

and sister were equitably estopped from repudiat-

ing the oral contract on the ground that it was not

reduced to writing as required by the statute of

frauds.

Here, however, the terms of the agreement never

were fully agreed upon between the parties. As
has been pointed out, the defendant in error, just

prior to the time it was alleged the contract was

entered into, was fully aware of the incomplete na-

ture of a contract to fui'nish material without exist-

ing drawings and specifications and that until they

were definitely understood and outlined, defendant in

error did not have a "starting point" (Tr. pp. 87-

224-227). It knew this, but went ahead and took

the chances, as the American Pacific Construction

Company necessarily did in its relations with the

Richelieu Realty Syndicate. The matter of com-

pleting the drawings rested between the defendant

in error and J. D. Smedberg who represented,

not the plaintiff in error, but the architect and
the Richelieu Realty Syndicate (see specifications,
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Tr. p. 107; deposition S. B. Harding, Tr. p. 104).

Not'^itbstanding the incomplete condition of the

drawings and specifications and the situation in

which the plaintiff in error was placed b}' the

change of the financial condition of the Richelieu

Eealtj^ Syndicate, plaintiff in error endeavored to

reach an adjustment with the defendant in error

at the time the order was given to stop the fabrica-

tion of steel and for some time thereafter.

The case of Seymour v. Oclriclis has no aj)plica-

tion here for the reasons stated and for the addi-

tional reason that independent of the invalidity

of the contract the law required proof of the alleged

damage.

Conclusion.

The character of the action and the necessity

of quoting the evidence is our excuse for the

great length of this brief. A complete treatment

of all the material parts required unavoidable

repetition.

However, it is respectfully submitted that every

point suggested by the defendant in error has

been met squarel}^ and fully answered. It is also

submitted

1st. That the alleged contract is void because:

(a) The drawings and specifications were never

completed.
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(b) The reference in the "proposal" to identi-

fied specifications is false. No such specifications

are in evidence.

(c) No specifications were attached to the "pro-

posal".

2nd. There is no evidence that defendant in

error was damaged.

3rd. That the contract sought to be proved was

different in its essential terms from the contract

alleged.

4th, That the action should not have been insti-

tuted until after the differences between the parties

had been submitted to arbitration.

It is finally submitted that the record shows

that this action is really an effort on the part of

the defendant in error to coin the misfortunes of

the Richelieu Realty Syndicate and of plaintiff in

error into money for damages which it never

sustained.

Upon the grounds and reasons set forth in

this brief we respectfully ask that the judgment

of the court be reversed.

Respectfully, submitted,

William F. Humphrey,

Attorney for Plcdntiff in Error.

Lent & Humphrey,

Of Counsel.


